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Tuesday, October 6, 2009

--- Upon commencing at 9:29 a.m.

MR. GARNER:  Good morning.  If we are all ready, I think we would like to start.  I would like to thank all of you for making your way back after our slightly brief interlude.  This morning we have Dr. Booth with us, and we --according to the schedule, after that we will have a break and at 12:40 have Dr. Schwartz.  I understand Toronto Hydro will have Mr. Sardana here, but we have made an adjustment for the Enbridge -- Ms. Holder, who won't be here today, so we may be finishing a bit earlier.

So with that, I think Lisa may have a few housekeeping things she wants to mention.  Do you, Lisa?
Preliminary Matters:

MS. BRICKENDEN:  Yes.  Just a brief reminder that we are being transcribed today, and I ask that if you want to participate, please remember to turn your mics on, speak clearly into the mic and announce your name so that the court reporter can record that.  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  So keeping with -- I don't know if there is anything our Chair wants to say?

MR. WETSTON:  I can't think of a thing.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, then.  Then keeping with our tradition, Dr. Booth, we will let you introduce yourself to the group, please.
STAKEHOLDER PRESENTATIONS

Presentation by Dr. Laurence D. Booth:


DR. BOOTH:  My name is Laurence Booth.  I am a professor of finance of the Rotman School, University of Toronto, where I hold the CIT chair in structured finance.

So I am here on behalf of a variety of intervenors who asked me to comment on the 20 questions, and I filed some testimony and I am here to make a short presentation and answer questions.

I will answer questions on anything to do with regulated utilities, but I won't answer any questions to do with CIT.

So have we got a presentation?

MR. GARNER:  I believe -- your presentation, is it up on the screen?  It should be on your screen, also, and there is a control right in front of you that will take you through, if you would like.

DR. BOOTH:  Okay.  Well, I've got a short presentation, and there actually is a logic to what I am going to talk about.

The first overhead I've got is to talk about the business cycle, because there are some things that have happened over the last year that were entirely predictable, and there are some things over the last year that have been unpredictable.

To understand what was predictable and what was unpredictable, you first have to step back and think about the business cycle.

What I put up here is simply the overnight rate.  This is the Bank of Canada's target rate when it conducts monetary policy, and we can see the cyclical pattern of the overnight rate.

When the overnight rate is relatively low, what is happening is the Bank of Canada is trying to stimulate the economy.  When the overnight rate is high, it is trying to slow down the economy.  So that is very important to understand what is happening with monetary policy, in terms of where the Bank of Canada is trying to steer the economy, because that affects the whole of the financial markets.

So we can see here the collapse in -- let's see now.  I can't get over there.

MR. GARNER:  Is it not changing?

DR. BOOTH:  We can see the Bank of Canada was pushing up interest rates in the late 1990s when trying to slow down the economy, and then we can see the collapse in the overnight rate after the Internet bubble burst.  And then the OEB called a hearing to talk about the relevance of the ROE adjustment mechanism in 2002 in response, primarily, to the Internet crash and the state of the capital markets at that point in time.

Then we had interest rates increasing a little bit, and then recovery really got under way and the Bank of Canada was pushing up the overnight rate until December 2007, and then we had the sub-prime problems percolating into Canada, and a lot more serious obviously in the United States.  And, currently, the overnight rate is at 25 basis points.

So that is the business cycle.  What we know about the business cycle is things happen in terms of the rate of economic growth, the unemployment rate and, in particular, what originally prompted this technical conference, which is the spreads on long-term bonds.

So this has precipitated this conference, and here we have the BBB spreads, the A spreads and the AA spreads.  There is a couple of important things to pick out from here.

First of all, the spreads basically lag what is happening to the economy, so we tend to get a pick-up in the spreads as we go into recession after the Bank of Canada has tried to slow down the economy.  We can see that in the early 2000s.  We can see that in the '90s.  We saw it in the Asian crisis in 1998, and we have seen it more dramatically over the last year.

So that is predictable.  One thing I would like to emphasize is the volatility of the spreads over the business cycle.  It is entirely predictable that when the Bank of Canada pushes up interest rates, we slow down the economy.  We go into recession.  We see a spike in spreads.

Then when the economy recovers, the bank takes some of that monetary stimulus away.  The economy recovers.  Spreads narrow and the Bank of Canada then starts trying to increase interest rates to slow down the economy.

What was not predictable or was not typical was the fact that during the last year we've seen these spreads increase dramatically, not just for the BBBs, which is entirely predictable, but we have seen a dramatic increase in the spreads for the A and AA-rated bonds.

So that indicates that what was happening last fall was atypical, and it was atypical because the American financial system suffered what was very close to a meltdown.  And the bond market is basically a market that is dealt with by banks holding inventories of bonds, and there was panic selling of those bonds last fall in order to generate cash, given the failure of Lehman Brothers, the failure of Wachovia, the failure of Washington Mutual and a whole series of US banks.

So we were in a very, very serious situation last fall, and the remarkable thing is those spreads, not just the BBBs, but the As and AAs.

As the US system has taken dramatic measures, both by the fed and US government, to calm the US financial system and basically make sure that none of the 19 major banks in the United States are going to fail, those spreads have come down.  The spreads have come down relatively rapidly to about 160, 170 basis points for As at the moment, which is a little bit above where they would be in a normal recession or normal recovery at this point in the business cycle.

So it is important to basically look at this and say what is normal is that these spreads vary with the business cycle.  It is absolutely predictable.  Boom follows bust, bust follows booms, spreads widen, spreads decline with the business cycle.

What was unusual was we don't expect the American financial system to suffer a meltdown every business cycle the way that it did last fall, but now that the system is healing, those spreads have come down dramatically.

I put that in perspective, because this Board considered the ROE adjustment mechanism 2002/2003.  I went back to the testimony I put together at that time just to think about what has fundamentally changed, and when I look at the statistics, the major thing is simply that at this point in time, we're early in the business cycle.

Just last week, the GDP figures for July came out and indicated basically flat, whereas we were expecting some growth.  We're expecting the third quarter results, when they come out, to show that we have left recession.  The Americans have probably left recession, as well.  But we're probably a year behind in the business cycle compared to where we were in 2003.

So that's why long Canada bond yields at the moment are about 4 percent versus four or five years ago when they were at just over 5 percent.  And that's why, as well, I am forecasting interest rates will recover as the Bank of Canada moves the economy back to 2 percent inflation, which it expects to get back to sometime second or third quarter next year.

Everybody is expecting interest rates to rise to be where they would be, given the Bank of Canada's 1 to 3 percent target rate for inflation, the inflation range, and given a normal recession ‑‑ sorry, given a normal state of the economy.

So it is important to realize that all of this stems from the underlying inflationary environment, the Bank of Canada.  As long as the Bank of Canada keeps to 1 to 3 percent inflation with a target of 2 percent, we would expect long Canada rates to be between 4 and 5 percent.

We're going to get fluctuations around that, given the way in which the business cycle swings as we get normal credit tightening and credit loosening, but as long as the government commits to maintaining inflation around about 2 percent, we would expect some stability in allowed rates of return and some stability in the opportunity costs in the market.

So whether or not the ROE adjustment is changed, in my judgment, fundamentally it comes down to whether you believe the Bank of Canada and the Government of Canada is committed to a 1 to 3 percent inflation level.

In 2003, as I mentioned, the Board -- this comes directly from the decision.  The Board looked at the ROE adjustment mechanism and basically, because the applicants said there had been significant changes in the capital markets, there is no claim that the utility risk per se has increased.

I would say that is exactly the same as what we've got in the current situation.  I don't see any significant increase in the utility risk, per se.  It is entirely been driven by events in the capital markets.

And the Board at that point concluded that if they looked at the equity risk premium, they could see no reason for changing the ROE adjustment mechanism.

So the point now is simply that we're a little bit earlier in the business cycle, but it is predictable that given where we are in the business cycle, there are changes in the capital markets, and what's happening now is very similar response to -- on the part of the utilities to where we were six years ago.

The only thing different is this fundamental crisis in the US financial system that spilled over to the United States.  But that is rapidly going away.

So when we look at the forecast test year, where we are rather than where we have been, the volatility in the equity market has come down dramatically, so there is no question that the equity markets have stabilized.  The TSX is up 50 percent since its March lows.  A spreads, as I indicated, are now back to approximately where we would expect, given the stage in the business cycle.  They're marginally high, but well within a reasonable range.

The economy is going to show the recession ended the last quarter, quarter 3.  The Bank of Canada is committed to keeping the interest rates, the overnight rate, at a quarter of a point through the third quarter of next year.

The expectation is the inflation will then recover to 2 percent by the third quarter of next year as the economy recovers.

So the question is:  How does this all affect the ROE mechanism going forward?

We have been using risk premium models, in particular the CAPM pricing model, in Canada for the last ten to 12 years.  Why?  Because I think it covers three of the basic rules in finance.

I tell my students that if they're asleep in one of my classes and I ask them a question, the first answer is time, value, money.  If I look totally confused, the second answer is the risk value of money.  And if I look totally confused again, the third answer is the tax value of money.

If you can understand the time value of money, the risk value of money and the tax value of money, you can understand almost all of capital markets and all of corporate finance.

The capital asset pricing model is the primary model we use for looking at required rates of return, fair rates of return, because it directly captures the time value of money in the long-term Canada bond yield and directly captures the risk premium through the market risk premium and the adjustment for risk for a particular company.

Here, there is a lot of judgment involved in estimating rates of return.  But the critical feature is the market risk premium is less subject to contention than almost any other area in finance.  It is still a contentious issue, but relative to discounted cash flow, relative to comparable earnings, relative to other adjustment techniques, there is a range within which we think the market risk premium is, and that range is relatively narrow.

So the capital asset pricing model handles the basic ideas in finance and is universally used to estimate equity costs.  This was a survey by Professors Graham and Harvey at Duke University published in the Journal of Financial Economics, one of the top journals.  And basically the CAPM comes up overwhelmingly as the most popular method for using, for estimating the cost of equity capital.

The second method is historic rates of return over long periods of time, which I will talk about shortly.  The third one is what we call a multi-beta or multi-CAPM approach or multi-factor model.  I use a two factor model in OI estimates, and that is becoming more popular.

Then the dividend discount model.  That is what we generally call the discounted cash flow model in regulatory hearings.  And then regulatory decisions and investor expectations.  But the capital asset pricing model is overwhelmingly the most popular model that we use in finance, for very good reason, that it captures the intuition, time value of money, risk value of money, and I would add the tax value of money, particularly for utilities, because they're dividend-rich stocks and they've got favourable tax treatment.  But that is difficult to incorporate directly.

Overall, what has happened to the market risk premium?  This is where I say estimated rates of return is judgment constrained by the facts.  The facts are that over the last 82 years in Canada, the realized risk premium in Canada, the excess return of the annual rate of return on equity is minus the annual rate of return on bonds, is about 4-1/2 percent.  In the US, it is about 5-1/2 percent.

So that is the evidence.  So the question is:  When you take that evidence over the last 82 years, how far different is it going to be in the future?

Now, what came out relatively recently, surveyed by Pablo Fernandez at IESE Business School in Barcelona, he surveyed finance faculty all the way around the world, and this was his results.  I put this up for two reasons.

First of all, it indicates the range of possible estimates for the market risk premium, and, secondly, estimates the median, the typical middle point finance faculty member at US, European, Canadian universities and what they think the market risk premium is.

The middle guy in the United States, the median, thinks the market risk premium in the US is 6 percent.  The middle guy in Canada says 5.1 percent.  The middle guy in Europe, 5 percent, and the middle guy in Australia is 6 percent.


So that is the estimate from finance faculty that teach capital budgeting, that teach capital markets, where they think the market risk premium is.

That basically is consistent with this historic information.

At the moment, the market risk premium in Canada, 4-1/2 percent, the US 5.6 percent, about a 1 percent different.  That is the historic record over the last 82 years.

Finance faculty think that that 1 percent is reflective of differences between the US and Canada, and that is what finance faculty, hundreds of them - in fact 884 of them surveyed - think is a reasonable estimate for the market risk premium.

If we look at the data for Canada, this is the distribution of 29 finance faculty members in Canada that answered the survey.  I am there at the 5 percent level.  The other number is 6 percent.  So, overwhelmingly, if the OEB just randomly picked up the telephone and called a finance faculty member in Canada, almost certainly they would be told the market risk premium was either 5 percent or 6 percent.

Now, they might just happen to pick the guy down there that thinks it is 2 percent or they might randomly pick the two people who thinks it is 8 percent, but, overwhelmingly, my colleagues in Canada think the market risk premium is 5 percent or 6 percent, lower in Canada than it is in the United States, but it is basically 5 or 6 percent.

That constrains what a reasonable rate of return is.  It is contained by the historic evidence in Canada.  It is constrained by the judgment of people that study and teach this material.

Relative risk, I looked at some of the overheads that people put together.  Low risk means that the stock price doesn't vary very much when the market goes up and the market goes down.  And what I did here was nothing very sophisticated.  I just pulled off data from Yahoo looking at the price performance of six Canadian utility holding companies relative to the TSE composite.

Low risk means they don't go down when the market crashes; they don't come up when the market recovers.  So I notice Matt Akman saying, Well, the market has recovered and utilities haven't recovered with the market.

Exactly.  You wouldn't expect that.  You wouldn't expect them to go down with the market to the same degree; you wouldn't expect them to come back with the market to the same degree.

So this first one is a mirror.  TSX from July, hit bottom in March, about 42, 43 percent off.

In May, it sort of fluctuated, dropped about 10 percent, but basically after a year it was pretty much back where it was, where it started, a slight drop-off at the beginning of July.  Low risk, low variability in a mirror stock price.

Fortis, same sort of pattern.  Canadian utilities drop off in January and February, but overall Canadian utilities didn't suffer the huge drops that the Toronto market suffered.

Gaz Métropolitan, the big thing about Gaz Mét is that it is a limited partnership; pays out almost all of its earnings as dividends and has immense stability, because it looked at it as an income stock.

Part of the risk attached to any utility or any company, per se, is what we call reinvestment risk.  They don't pay all of the money out as a dividend.  They retain it within the firm, and it is a risk they are going to waste that money in an acquisition or they are going to waste it in bad investments.

When you look at Gaz Mét, that is the risk of a utility in Canada, if it paid out all of its money as a dividend.  The answer is it is very, very low risk; hardly varies with the stock market. It's beta; as a result, is extremely low.

Two stocks that I think are relatively risky, TransCanada, big foray into the US buying electricity stocks.  Certainly it has been a little bit riskier than the other pure utility stocks, but it is still much less risky than the market as a whole.


Finally, the utility that I think is the riskiest in Canada, Pacific Northern Gas, lost 70 percent of its load when Methanex closed its doors.  It has real viability problems, and it clearly has got price behaviour that follows the Canadian stock market more closely than other utilities.

So the record is, over the last year, six utility holding companies in Canada have simply demonstrated what we all know.  They're defensive stocks.  They have not varied with the market.  They're low risk, and you will not expect them to come up when the market comes up, just as you didn't expect them to go down when the market went down.

Low risk utility stocks, market risk premium around 5 or 6 percent.

Judgment constrained by the facts.  The facts are that the long-term Canada bond yield is the only expected rate of return in the capital market.  We know that if we invest in the long Canada bond and we keep it to maturity, that is exactly the rate of return that we're going to earn.  So we hinge rates of return after risk-free rate.  The risk free rate for long-term investments is the long-term Canada bond yield.

At the moment, that is about 4 percent, but I fully expect that to recover to 4-1/2, 4.75 percent over the next year, given the fact that there is no question we're in a growth mode and economy is going to strengthen and demand for capital is going to go up.

Market risk premium, I use 5 percent.  Beta, I have been using 0.5 for about the last ten years.  I see nothing fundamentally happening in the market risk of the utilities.

Raw estimate, 7 percent.  I add 50 basis points for issue costs.  I have started adding 25 basis points, what I call a margin of error.  What is that?  It's nothing more than saying that my colleagues think the market risk premium is 6 percent; I think it is 5 percent.  I would admit that I may be off by 1 percent.  One percent times a beta of 0.5 basically adds 50 basis points.  Split the difference; 25 basis points.

So I am currently recommending 7.75 percent.  It is lower than the allowed rate of return that comes out of the adjustment mechanism by about 40, 45 basis points.  I have repeatedly said the adjustment mechanisms cannot be completely accurate at every stage in the business cycle.  They're approximately correct.  They're tracked opportunity costs in the Canadian capital market.

They cannot possibly be completely correct at every single point in time.  I think they're approximately correct.  I think they're a little bit generous, and I think it is perfectly reasonable to be a little bit generous, given the fact they're applied over the business cycle on an annual basis.

Financing, the critical thing in the 2003 review, the Board said there is no evidence of any financing problems from, on the part of the utilities -- quite the opposite.  Now we can say there is evidence that the utilities have had absolutely no problem raising capital during the worst financial crisis for the last 70 years.

There has been no utility downgrades.  The utilities have raised a significant amount of capital.  Absolute financing costs are extremely low.  Most utilities are lowering their embedded cost of debt by refinancing at the current point in time.  So it is extremely difficult to say that the cost of debt is not fair and reasonable.

Utilities have increased their dividend payments, so that is a mark of the stability of their earnings and their willingness to increase their payout.

No indication of any financing problems for Canadian utilities.  What we do observe at this stage in the business cycle is that, given the high level of spreads, utilities shorten the maturity of the debt that they issue, and this is exactly the same.  Every business cycle, when you get into recession, spreads go up.  You shorten.  Instead of issuing 30-year, you issue ten-year or you issue five-year, particularly smaller utilities that are rated BBB, and, as a result, they have more access problems.

So that is typical for the stage in the business cycle.

Bankers debt, at the moment bankers are increasing the fees on their loans, both the setup fees and the spreads over prime or the spreads over BA, but we shouldn't lose sight of the fact that even if you have got higher spreads, the fact is BA rates are now triggered off about 40 basis points, and prime at 2.25 percent is the lowest that I have seen for a very long period of time.

So even though the spreads have gone up marginally, the overall costs of bank debt is extremely low.  And this is affecting not just utilities.  I suspect there is people in the room like me who has a mortgage of prime minus 75 or prime minus 80.  Good luck getting that if you renew your mortgage.  It is going to be prime plus 1 percent, because the rates are so low the banks are having trouble making any money on prime minus 80 mortgages.

So there is no question that those spreads have increased, but what we can't lose sight of is the fact that the overall absolute cost of financing has gone down over the last year.  There was absolutely no access problems, and there is no question that those rates of return are fair and reasonable.

I read the overheads and the presentations.  I have no problem with the presentations by most of the analysts.  They correctly reflected the state of the capital markets, and the fact that six months ago we had really difficult times and the fact there is still credit tightening going on, particularly in the United States, less so in Canada.

The one thing that jumped out was Matt Akman, Macquarie's presentation, saying it is time to adjust the ROE mechanism.  It jumped out at me, because Matt and I were on a panel at CAMPUT last May, 2008, and this was his last slide:  ROE formula appears to be working.  So that was his opinion last May.  He has changed his opinion now, but clearly his only, my guess is he has changed the opinion simply because of the financial crisis that we've been through.

Looking forward, I can't see any justification for changing his judgment of 18 months ago that the ROE formula is working.

Concentric people will like this.  The ROE commissioned -- the OEB commissioned Concentric to write a report two years ago looking at the ROEs in Canada, the ROEs in the United States.

This popped up in the Alberta Utility Commission's hearing this past June.  Concentric looks at allowed ROEs in Canada, allowed ROEs in US, takes the difference and says, This is a fairness deficit and says that this is partly due to the ROE adjustment mechanism.

Two points here.  First of all, the Alberta Utilities Commission, or the forerunner of the AEUB, did not introduce an ROE adjustment mechanism until 2004.  So the difference between allowed rates of return in Alberta utilities and those in the United States preceded the adjustment mechanism by seven years.

So you cannot put the blame on lower rates of return in Canada on the ROE adjustment mechanism.  That is simply the outcome of regulatory hearings where our regulators have determined the allowed rates of return in Canada are at the level they're at.

So you cannot just look at those differences and say this is all due to the formula jump, the formula.  That is simply not true.  The allowed rates of return were different in Canada than they are in the United States, years before the Alberta Utility Commission put in place their adjustment formula.

US versus Canada, this was a presentation that Merrill Lynch put together for NARUC meetings in January earlier this year.

We know the US allowed rates of return are higher than they are in Canada.  What we don't know is if US actual rates of return are higher than they are in Canada.  I regularly put together data that show that the actual earned returns in Canada consistently exceed the allowed rates of return, partly due to performance-based regulation incentives and partly simply because they overearn consistently.  There is no evidence that -- as far as I am aware of, that allowed rates of return are exceeded -- sorry, the actual rates of return are exceeded similarly in the United States.  In fact, what evidence there is is that US utilities frequently don't earn their allowed rates of return.

So comparing allowed with allowed isn't really the proper metric.  You have got to consider the incentives, the performance-based regulation in Canada and the fact that we allow our utilities to overearn in order to generate incentive -- efficiency gains to share with ratepayers.

But the allowed rates of return are higher in the United States.  Also, they tend to have higher common equity ratios.  You would expect, if they're equivalent in risk, that the US utilities would have better bond ratings.  The fact is they don't.  And Peterkins' evidence here is the median, the typical bond rating in the US for power and utilities, has changed from an A down to a BBB.

So there is no question in the last ten years the restructuring in the utility industry in the US, particularly on the electricity side, has resulted in a deterioration in credit ratings in the United States.

When I look at this, I look at why compare US with Canada?  I would say there are three things that need to be considered.  First of all is the underlying utility risk, how they're regulating.  Secondly is the impact of utility holding companies, and, thirdly, is the impact to the economy as a whole.

In terms of utilities, Canada has a protective way towards utilities.  The regulatory dialectic in Canada is that if there is a problem it is brought before a utility commission, and it is worked out between the ratepayers and worked out in the utilities.

Regular rate hearings have a huge impact in the risk of the utility, which is why consistently Canadian utilities exceed their allowed rates of return.

That is not the case in the United States.  Rate hearings are a lot less frequent.  There is more regulatory lag.  They tend to use historic rather than forecast test years.  Expenditures are not preapproved the way they are in Canada.  So when a utility comes before a regulatory board in Canada and says, I want to spend a certain amount of money on capital expenditures, if it is preapproved, then as long as they haven't made a total mistake, that gets added to the rate base.

That is not the case in the United States, because they have such infrequent rate hearings.  And, as a result, there is more short-term variability in the rates of return earned by US utilities.  That comes out consistently.

I am not an expert on what goes on in the United States.  Before the Alberta Utilities Commission my colleague, Andy Safire, presented testimony on the US regulatory process.

He came down to five salient factors differentiating Canada from the United States:  Review frequency, which is regulatory lag; historic versus forward test years; greater reliance on market forces, what he called light-handed regulation, and I will get back to that; more experimental rate-making; and what he calls black swan events, which is exactly what happened last year.

A black swan is something that happens a lot more frequently than predicted by normal statistics.  The black swan was Pacific Gas and Electric going bankrupt in California because the CPUC wouldn't allow them to pass on electricity rate increases.

A black swan is when you build a nuclear plant and the regulators decide, We're not going to allow it into rate base; it is not used and useful.


So black swan events are these things that periodically crop up in the United States.  I am not aware of them cropping up in Canada.  That has a huge impact on the way in which people look at utilities.

So underlying the year-to-year risk of utilities, the year-to-year risk, the median allowed rates of return, no question it is lower in Canada than it is in the United States.

The second critical factor is what we call event risk.  This is the fact that most utilities are owned by utility holding companies, and the question is:  What can the utility holding company do to damage the bond holders in the operating utility?

Standard & Poor's is absolutely clear on this.  In the Union Gas hearing in 2004, I went through this in some detail because, in 2003, Standard & Poor's put the Canadian utilities on watch to review the value of regulatory protection, because Standard & Poor's took over CBRS and they wanted to review exactly how good regulatory protection was in Canada.

At that time, in its ratings review, Standard & Poor's looked at a whole series of events in the telecom industry in Canada and the actions of US regulators.  These three examples I have got here come directly from the Standards & Poor's ratings criteria.  Frontier Telephone, Cincinnati Bell and Qwest all involved mergers and acquisitions where the provincial -- or, sorry, the state regulators did not step in to protect bond holders in the United States, and, as a result, there were dramatic downgrades in those bonds, and, as a result, the bond holders lost significant amounts of money.

Even more significant, when Enron collapsed, Enron raided its two pipeline subsidiaries for a billion dollars to try and raise capital in order to survive.  S&P and others expected the FERC to come in and protect the bond holders in the future.  FERC dropped the ball, and it has still not protected the pipelines in the United States from this event risk.

So this is what we call ring fencing.  Unless an operating subsidiary is ring fenced, is structurally insulated from the actions of its parent corporation, Standard & Poor's will not give it a higher bond rating than its parent.

We have seen that in Canada.  We have seen that with Terasen Gas.  We have seen it with Union Gas.  We have seen it with a number of utilities where the operating subsidiary has a lower bond rating than its parent simply because S&P says, Look, we know what's happened in the US.  This could happen again.  We're not going to give a higher bond rating.

What this indicates simply is that S&P is looking to regulators to protect their operating subsidiaries, to ring fence them.  This came up in the BCUC hearing when Kinder Morgan bought what was then B.C. Gas, and essentially ring fenced the subsidiary to try to remove this risk from the operating subsidiary.

So why are US bond ratings inferior, typically, to Canadian?  Partly, it is due to the free market enterprise in the United States and a greater tendency of utility holding companies to intervene basically at the expense of the bond holders in the operating subsidiaries.  So that is event risk.

Finally, US markets are riskier.  I mean, this is a difficult one for people to take.  I have had commissions say, Well, surely they must be less risk than Canada, because they have a more diversified economy.

That is true.  The operating economy, the actual state of the economy is more diversified than in Canada, but the US capital markets are much riskier.  They're much more free enterprise.  They're much more arbitrage.  The action of the hedge funds is a lot more aggressive.

We have been reminded, again, that the 1929 stock market crash that precipitated regulatory failure in the United States in the Great Depression was almost repeated last fall.  We came perilously close to market meltdown, in terms of the US banking system.  We have seen the first global recession and a global financial crisis, all triggered by actions in the United States.


When I see utility witnesses coming in saying, Oh, Canada is just like the United States.  The pipe in the ground is the same in Canada as it is in the United States.  The economics are the same in Canada as in the United States.  They are regulated under the same overall principles in Canada and the United States.


Exactly the same applies to banking.  In fact, banking is regulated under the same Basel 1, Basel 2 criteria in Canada and the United States.  What matters is not whether or not they're regulated.  What matters is whether the regulators actually do their job and regulate.

What we now know with Obama's coming in, there's a whole set of changes in the regulation in the United States, because there was regulatory failure in the United States.  They simply did not regulate their banks, and, in the same way, they have got light-handed regulation in other areas.

We do not have that problem in Canada.  We have protected regulation.  We have a regulatory bargain where we load up the operating subsidiaries with significant amounts of debt.  We protect them.  We pass everything on to ratepayers.  It is a win-win compact.

The American system is not a win-win compact.  They have got more regulatory risk.  And, as a result, they end up having less debt.  They have higher costs, and ratepayers pay more as a result of the utilities bearing the risk.

So that's part of the regulatory dialectic.

Allowed ROEs have dropped in Canada.  Why?  Well, it is pretty obvious we have done a very, very good job in Canada.  In the early 1990s, we went through a very serious recession.  We went through free trade adjustments in the United States.  The Government of Canada and the Bank of Canada decided to put in place inflation targets of 1 to 3 percent.

They decided to introduce real return bonds to show their commitment to lowering the rate of inflation, to bring the deficit down.  We suffered enormous pain in Canada during the 1990s, huge lay-offs, significant unemployment, but it worked and we have reaped the benefit of that.

The federal government moved into surplus in 1997.  Up until this year, we have had a string of surpluses.  We have paid down the debt.  We have lowered the rate of inflation.  We have had good economic growth.  We have lowered the tax rates in Canada.  That is all to the good of Canada.

And you would expect, in a better economic environment, a better financial system, the long Canada bond yield would come down and the overall opportunity cost in Canada would come down.

In fact, traditionally, the provinces in Canada were encouraged to issue US dollar debt, because there wasn't enough capital in Canada, and they were worried about provinces and federal government crowding out private capital in Canada.

That problem has long since disappeared.  Canada now exports capital.  That's why the federal government removed the foreign property rule in 2005 so we no longer have this 30 percent restriction on foreign investment.  Why?  Because we can export capital in Canada and has now moved into a creditor position.  The rest of the world owes us.  We no longer owe them.

When you look at that situation, the fact that we moved into a creditor position, we have good government finances, we have low inflation, we have responsible government in terms of tax reductions, we would expect the overall opportunity cost to come down, and we would expect it to come down relative to the United States.

Let's not kid ourselves.  The United States has huge problems.  Right now, its deficit as a percentage of GDP is 13 percent, and they want to bring in a huge amount of expenditures in terms of health.  They're relying upon foreign investors putting money in the United States to finance the US government deficit.

It makes no sense for us to take a rate of return from a US capital market and apply it to Canada without making adjustments.  In fact, not only does it make no sense.  I taught international finance at U of T for 15 years and one of the first things we teach is a principle called interest rate parity.

You cannot take rates of return or interest rates from another country and apply them to a different currency without making adjustments.  You have to take into account, at the very minimum, the depreciation or appreciation of the currency.

So I reject the Concentric report.  I don't think it reflects the value of what we have done in Canada and the suffering we have gone through over the last 20 years, and the fact that, by and large, Canada has got it right in terms of macroeconomic policy, tax policy.  We have got it right in terms of regulation of our utilities, and I see no reason why we would want to follow American practice.  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Dr. Booth.  So I will open the floor and for questions for Dr. Booth.

DR. BOOTH:  I suppose I should have put my last overhead.  I suppose that follows automatically.  The ROE is working fine.

MR. GARNER:  With that statement, we will open up.  Are there questions for Dr. Booth?  Fred.
Q&A Session:

MR. CASS:  Good morning, Dr. Booth.  I am Fred Cass and I represent Enbridge Gas Distribution.

I took you to say, during your presentation, that you are not an expert in the US, so you may have anticipated where I am going with some of my questions.

In any event, perhaps I might just confirm what I believe to be the case.

Would I be right in thinking that you have not been qualified as an expert in any US regulatory proceeding?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I have never been asked to appear and I have never sought to appear.  So, as a result, I have never been qualified.

MR. CASS:  So you have never actually even testified in a US regulatory proceeding?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  So when you do make your comments about US regulation of utilities, you are not doing so as an expert in the area; right?

DR. BOOTH:  That's right.  That's why I qualified it by saying that my colleague, Andrew Safire, who is American and who has testified frequently in the United States, he was brought in by the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers, in fact, to talk specifically about regulation in the United States.

MR. CASS:  That's --

DR. BOOTH:  Which is why I took my points from the transcript of the questioning by the panel members of the AUC of Mr. Safire.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Well, that's -- I'm sorry.  That's useful, because that is exactly where I was going next.  You did, in your presentation, refer to the evidence given by Dr. Safire in Alberta, and it strikes me that the fact you rely on someone else's evidence for the purpose of this proceeding really is just confirmation of what you have already told us, that you yourself don't have the expertise in the area; right?

DR. BOOTH:  What I would say, as I pointed out, there are three fundamental differences.  In terms of the macroeconomy, I think I can talk about the US economy.  In fact, any Canadian that is interested in capital markets has to be aware of what is going on in the United States.

Secondly, I am aware of the Standard & Poor's policies in the United States and the event risk in the United States.

So two out of three I can talk about.

In terms of the actual specifics of state regulation of utilities, I have not done a huge survey or work on that.  What I have done is looked at the evidence that's been put forward by witnesses, when we have asked them to provide information on:  How frequent are the rate reviews?  What is the performance of allowed rates of return compared to actual rates of return?

So that is information that has come out of rate hearings, and that is not information that I have generated personally myself.  It is information that I have filed as a result of information requests of US witnesses, like Ms. McShane sitting over there.

MR. CASS:  It was, in particular, the third of the three areas that I was referring to that you're not an expert in.  It is the impact of regulation in the United States; correct?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  Looking at page 23 of the written comments that you filed in the proceeding - I will give you a moment to turn that up - you indicate in the third line at the top of page 23:
"The impact of regulation is the single biggest factor in the risk of a utility."

Correct?

DR. BOOTH:  Absolutely.  Consistently, when we look at Canadian utilities, they earn their allowed rates of returns.  It is difficult to see any business risk for Canadian utilities.  Risk means the probability of failure, and I have never seen --

MR. CASS:  That is not what I am asking you, Dr. Booth, if I may.  I am talking here about the US regulatory regime for utilities and your expertise, and if we could try to just keep our minds on that for a few moments.

So you did refer to Dr. Safire, as I said, because the regulatory impact, at least, is an area in which you don't have expertise with respect to the United States, but Dr. Safire's evidence, in full, has not been filed here and he is not here to testify to it himself, is he?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  That's why I referenced the transcript.  That's a public record.

MR. CASS:  In fact, this evidence was thoroughly challenged in Alberta, wasn't it?

DR. BOOTH:  As far as I am aware, every expert is thoroughly challenged.

MR. MONDROW:  Mark, I wonder if I could interrupt.  I apologize in a fashion to Fred, but it seems to me this is really cross-examination aimed at the credibility and qualifications of the witness.  My understanding is that is not what this conference is about.  It is really about putting information in the public forum and providing comments and reviewing facts.

That doesn't seem to me where Fred is going.

MR. CASS:  Well, if I might just say, Mark, I would indicate that obviously a key issue in this proceeding, which Dr. Booth himself has decided to take on, is this comparability with the United States.

Unfortunately, it is very difficult to address that with Dr. Booth, other than getting into the issue of expertise.  He himself raised it in his own presentation.

MR. GARNER:  Well, I think what might be helpful is -- it is a consultation.  If what we are trying to discover is whether there is some discrepancy between what Dr. Booth has gone over and something he has provided before, then certainly why don't you -- if that's what you want to explore.  But I am remiss to turn this into a hearing, especially because I am not qualified to hold one.

And I would prefer us to deal with the issues the best we can.  So with that, Fred, I will turn it back to you.

MR. CASS:  Well, really, Dr. Booth, where I was going was just to suggest to you that this evidence of Dr. Safire is not of much use to us in this proceeding, because we don't have him here to test him.  We don't have what went on in Alberta, and that's really my only proposition to you.

It is not of much use to more or less dump on the record here something that a witness said elsewhere.

DR. BOOTH:  I would agree with that, but I would also point out that Ms. McShane, who has appeared as a witness on behalf of Enbridge Gas Distribution, has frequently said there is more short-term earnings variability amongst US utilities.  The question is:  Why is that existing?

So Canadian utilities consistently over-earn.  US utilities have a much bigger dispersion in their actual rates of return compared to allowed.

And that reflects the fact that they don't have frequent rate reviews, and that is something that I am aware of.  I haven't gone through and looked at all of the States in the union and seen how they regulate the utilities and how frequently the rate reviews are, but I think it is an uncontested fact the US utilities are not on an annual rate review and they suffer significant regulatory lag.

In fact, I never heard of US witnesses say anything other than that.  And most of the propositions that come out of this follow from the lack of annual rate hearings.

Unless you have an annual rate hearing and unless you sort of bring all of your future expenditures towards the Board for approval, then you do suffer the more significant risk of having costs disallowed.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Let me just drop straight to the bottom line, then, Dr. Booth, in recognition of what Mr. Mondrow said.  I won't go through a cross-examination line of questions, but I will just drop right to the bottom line.

You are, again, talking about regulatory matters in the United States, in which you freely said you are not an expert.

I will give you a second example.  Your reference to what Mr. Akman said at CAMPUT in 2008, I made a note as you were referring to that in your presentation.  And you said, My guess - those were your words - my guess is that he changed his view for a certain reason.

What I am suggesting to you - and I think this is as relevant for a consultation as it is for a hearing - is you have stepped across the boundary of an expert witness.  You are now giving evidence about things you are not an expert on.  You are guessing why Mr. Akman may or may not have changed his view.

It seems to me that you have crossed the boundary, for the purposes of this proceeding at least, from an expert witness to an advocate.

Where have I gone wrong on that, if I have?

DR. BOOTH:  I think you have gone wrong.  I was asked to comment on the presentations.  I was asked, specifically, that I would be asked questions about the presentations that people put before this technical conference on the first Monday.

One of those consisted of Matt Akman's presentation, and I was sitting next to him during CAMPUT when he said the ROE formula is working fine.

So if he said that the ROE formula is working fine in May 2008, and now here we are in August of 2009 and he's saying it is not working fine, then something obviously happened during that last year.  And what obviously happened in that last year was the financial crisis.

So I would not say that is acting as an advocate.  That is doing what I was asked to do, which is commenting on the presentations put before this technical conference.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Maybe we can move on to a bit of a discussion of that, then.  I take it you have read the presentations that were given by the members of that first panel in this conference?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And so you would be aware that these were capital market experts, each with a different perspective or expertise, bond investor, bond analyst, equity analyst and investment banker.  Am I fair in describing it that way?

DR. BOOTH:  I mean, I remember looking at them.  There was the -- Matt Akman I think is an equity analyst, Harold Holloway, T.D. Securities, says he is investment banking.  Sun Life I guess is the perspective of a pension investor or insurance company investor.

And Stephen Dafoe, director of corporate bond research, so that is fixed income research.


MR. CASS:  I'm sorry, I didn't mean that to be a challenging question.

Aside from encountering these people, say, in regulatory proceedings or, as in the case with Mr. Akman, at a conference, do you run into these capital market people in the course of your professional work in the capital markets?

DR. BOOTH:  No.  We bring them in as speakers at U of T to talk to our students, but I do not issue bonds or equity.

MR. CASS:  But you don't actually interact with these people who have come to the Board to speak about the capital markets, other than, again, in regulatory proceedings or --

DR. BOOTH:  Regulatory proceedings and --

MR. CASS:  And speeches.

DR. BOOTH:  -- inviting them in to talk to our MBA students, yes.

MR. CASS:  The Board heard from another investment banker, Mr. Carmichael.  Would that have been true, as well; during his time as an investment banker, you wouldn't interact with someone like that on a professional basis?

DR. BOOTH:  Derek Brown, former investment banker of Dominion Securities, we hired as an adjunct faculty member for seven years, and he used to do exactly the same thing as Mr. Carmichael at DS, basically, on the energy and utility side.

So, I mean, I interact with people, but I am not -- I am a professor of finance.  I am not an investment banker, and I don't interact in the capital markets to that degree.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  I wanted to ask you some questions about your credit profile for the US power and utility companies.  It is in your presentation, but, I'm sorry, I don't have page numbers on my copy, so you will have to help me.  It is also, I think, in your written comments.

DR. BOOTH:  Page 24.

MR. CASS:  Of the written, yes.  Someone got it up on the screen there from the presentation, yes.

So I see that this is referred to as power and utilities with a comparison from 1998 to 2008.  So I am wondering if you can help me understand, in each of the two time frames, 1998 and 2008, what companies in your sample are power companies and what companies are utilities?

DR. BOOTH:  This is not my sample.  This is a Merrill Lynch presentation.

MR. CASS:  Yes, well, do you have any information at all as to what is in the sample?

DR. BOOTH:  No.  This was a presentation that Peter Kind of Merrill Lynch Bank America gave to NARUK.  I've got January -- I think it was actually February 2009.  And I received copies of his slides, and one of the copies of the slides indicated this deterioration in credit quality.

But I have no evidence of the firms that he looked at to produce those samples.

Now, I would mention, in the Ontario Power Generation hearing in 2007, Ms. McShane had a similar sample of US electricity companies where she included all firms that had an investment grade rating in the United States.

And if my recollection is correct, 70 percent of those were BBBs, and since she only included ones with investment grade, presumably there were ones with not investment grade bond ratings in the United States.

So the idea that US utilities and power companies in the utility group have seen a deterioration in their credit quality, I don't think that is particularly controversial.

MR. CASS:  Well, it was fairly simple, and I think I have the answer.  I was just looking for you to help me, within this sample that was used here to produce this chart, to help me understand which of the companies are power producers and which are utilities.  That was the one thing I asked you.

I had a second question, which was to understand which are investor-owned and which are municipal- or government-owned.

I take it you can't answer that?

DR. BOOTH:  I can't answer that.  That was a presentation by Merrill Lynch on regulatory issues, and they saw fit to produce this graph indicating the deterioration of credit quality.

MR. CASS:  All right.

DR. BOOTH:  I would suspect if they thought there was something extra, then they would have produced another overhead.

MR. CASS:  Right.

DR. BOOTH:  This is what they saw fit to present.

MR. CASS:  Let me just use a Canadian example, then, that I think we can freely talk about.  Let's talk about TransAlta.

DR. BOOTH:  I thought you were going to say that.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Back in the 1990s, when TransAlta's business were primarily utilities, it would have been, what, an A or AA rating?

DR. BOOTH:  I think it was AA.  At the time, the Alberta utilities were allowed preferred shares, and they reclaimed the tax on the preferred shares.  So there was a big incentive for the Alberta utilities to use prefs.

MR. CASS:  Nowadays, TransAlta is a generator and its rating would be BBB?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  It sold off all of its distribution and transmission lines.  It sold its transmission lines to AltaLink and its distribution utilities got sold off, as well.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

DR. BOOTH:  Which is an interesting thing.  You sell off all of the utilities stuff and your bond rating goes down.  And exactly the same, whenever TransCanada went out into the United States, its ratings were put on watch, because it was moving away from the utility side into other less regulated, riskier businesses.

I have yet to see any company be put on ratings watch for a downgrade as a result of buying a regulated utility, and yet I have seen lots of companies being put on watch for buying non-regulated operations --

MR. CASS:  I just wanted --

DR. BOOTH:  -- which is a very significant fact.

MR. CASS:  I just wanted to be sure that we are in agreement with some fairly basic propositions, Dr. Booth, if I may.  So I am just going to put some ideas to you and just see if you can confirm -- if you can confirm whether you agree.


First of all, global equity markets in recent years have become more integrated?

DR. BOOTH:  That's right.  There is certainly a lot more capital flowing around the world.  In fact, that is the major reason why the US currency appreciated during the crisis last fall, and the emerging market stock markets crashed was because hedge funds suffered giant margin calls and they sold off emerging market stock and brought it back to the United States, pushing up the value the US dollar.

Otherwise, no one could explain why the US dollar would strengthen when the US economy and financial system was in meltdown.

MR. CASS:  All types of investments across national boundaries are increasing as the world becomes one giant marketplace?

DR. BOOTH:  At the moment, yes.  Whether or not that persists in the future, given what has happened, is another question.  But certainly we are beginning to get to the situation we were in the 1920s, where we also had global markets with very few investment barriers.

Now we're starting to see policy makers thinking about bringing back investment barriers to insulate them from, basically, US hot capital that has been flowing around the world.

MR. CASS:  The world's money markets and bond markets are very global in nature?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes, the money markets have always been integrated.  Basically, the Canadian banks can fund US dollars and convert them into Canadian dollars, or any other currency.  So the money market has been integrated almost perfectly for at least the last 20 years.

MR. CASS:  Easy for Canadian investors to invest in foreign markets and for foreign companies to invest in Canadian markets?

DR. BOOTH:  No.  You try buying British stocks or German stocks.  You find out that you don't have -- your broker isn't allowed to sell them, because he is not qualified to sell British or European stocks.  What you can do is buy American stocks, because multi-jurisdictional disclosure means that they accept our securities regulation and we accept them.

MR. CASS:  Right.

DR. BOOTH:  But believe me, I tried to buy British stocks.  All I can do is buy ETFs.  I couldn't go out and buy Tesco, for example, and I can't go out and buy Deutsche Bank -- I think, actually, Deutsche Bank is cross-listed in the US, but you try buying a lot of foreign stocks.  You find out it is difficult, because the Ontario Securities Commission protects us.

MR. CASS:  Just as an aside, try HSBC, but that is --

DR. BOOTH:  That is probably an ADR out of New York.  And you can buy Royal Bank of Scotland if you want.  I own RBS as well.


MR. CASS:  But the US represents a particularly important market for Canadians because of its size and proximity?

DR. BOOTH:  The US market is 50 percent of the world capital market.  You can't ignore it.  It is the elephant in the room.

MR. CASS:  And there is growing economic integration between the two countries?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes, we are reducing barriers.  Free trade was a huge change in the structure of the Canadian industry.

MR. CASS:  In fact, Canada is so close to the US and so linked that people don't think of us as being international?

DR. BOOTH:  It is true that if you go to London and I pick up a copy of the Financial Times, you discover that they include all the world market indices except Canada.  And I have never understood that, because the Canadian stock market is the sixth biggest in the world and the FT doesn't even mention the TSX; and yet it has a whole bunch of rinky-dink little equity markets that are way smaller than Canada.

MR. CASS:  So I just wanted to compare these things just to a couple of things that the NEB said in the recent TQM decision, and they're very short, and just see if you agree with them, as well.

The NEB said Canadian firms are increasingly competing for capital on a global basis.  I take it you agree with that, in light of what we just discussed?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  The NEB also said global financial markets have evolved significantly since 1994.  I take it you agree with that?


DR. BOOTH:  We're back to where we were round about 1900, where we actually had a fully integrated markets round about 1990, 1910, and then basically we disintegrated or segmented markets in response to the Great Depression and the stock market crash.

Whether or not we get similar segmentation in response to this crisis -- but I don't think it is going to happen, because the Americans nipped it in the bud before it sort of cascaded out of control.  But there was a significant risk that, if the Americans hadn't done that, we would be back to protectionism and all sorts of restrictions.

MR. CASS:  But that was a, yes, you agreed with what the NEB said on that?

DR. BOOTH:  I agree that there is more capital market integration.  I agree the capital flows around the world a lot easier than it used to.  In fact, one of the problems that generated the problems in the US sub-prime was simply due to the huge amount of capital that was flowing into the United States, particularly from China, and it pushed interest rates down to record lows.

MR. CASS:  Just one --

DR. BOOTH:  A critical point.  There is absolutely no question that capital is moving around.  There is absolutely no question that there is more competition for capital.  That does not mean to say that what we call the law of one price holds, that the markets are perfectly integrated, and so for the same risk, the security gets the same rate of return.

That is a lot more stringent restriction than just saying the capital flows.

The fact is that even if the markets were completely segmented so there was no arbitrage between two capital markets, the underlying economies are becoming more integrated, so they react to exactly the same economic events.

We saw this 30, 40 years ago when the markets between the US and Canada were not as integrated as they are now, but the fact is economic events would trigger the same sort of stock market reaction in the US and Canada.  But that does not mean to say they're fully integrated or the law of one price holds.

We can see that directly when we look at things like the preferred share market, where the preferred share market has tax advantages in Canada.  As a result, they sell a lower yield than they do in the United States.  There is no arbitrage in that market.  The law of one price doesn't hold.

MR. CASS:  I don't think anybody is talking about the law of one price, Dr. Booth, as far as I'm aware, but that's fine.  We can leave that.


DR. BOOTH:  You started talking about integration in global markets.  You're saying you should be using the US.  The only reason you should be using the US is if the law of one price holds, so you have a fully integrated capital market.

MR. CASS:  Let's leave that for comments later on.  Just one final question in this area.  You did refer to some evidence by Concentric in a different proceeding.  Just a very basic question.  Would you confirm for me that, in fact, that the fairness gap shown in that evidence by Concentric was one that started after the initial adoption of the formula by the National Energy Board in 1994; right?

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I mean, that's just -- statistically I think it starts in 1997, which was when Canada moved into surplus, and the National Energy Board was not the first to introduce an ROE adjustment mechanism.  That was the B.C. Utilities Commission a year before, and that was 1993.

MR. CASS:  Right.

DR. BOOTH:  But I would prefer to say that -- I mean, I hate the phrase "fairness gap", because I think it is totally incorrect to refer to that as a fairness gap.  It implies that every regulatory board that has reviewed the ROE adjustment mechanism, including this Board in 2003 and in 2007, the NEB in 2001, the Régie in 2007, all of these - the BCUC three times.

Everyone that has reviewed those formulas set rates of return that were unfair, which is exactly what this graph is saying.  I don't think that is correct.

MR. CASS:  Well, Dr. Booth, you are tempting me to get back to my point about being an advocate, because I don't think that had anything to do with my question, but perhaps I will leave it there and thank you very much.

MR. MONDROW:  Just on this topic, I have a question I would like to pose.

MR. GARNER:  Sure.

MR. MONDROW:  I think Fred, Mr. Cass, laid some groundwork, Professor Booth, for some comments presumably that Enbridge will make at the end of the day.  But it seems to me the real question for you is:  Do you think that the Board should be concerned that capital in the utility sector is going to move to the US from Canada or at the expense of Canada, because the returns for US regulated utilities are higher than the ROE formula produces in Canada?  Maybe you could comment on that.

DR. BOOTH:  If the returns are higher in the United States, all else constant, the market values of those securities will be higher.  And, as a result, if capital was sold off in Canada and moved into the United States, they got have to pay a higher price in order to get to those returns.

The last overhead I had that I forgot to mention is Fortis purchased Terasen Gas utility, 2007, and paid 1.7 times the book equity, which means that they paid 70 cents for every dollar of book equity that earned a zero rate of return just to get the one dollar that was earning the BCUC fair rate of return.

So they did that one year after the BCUC confirmed its ROE adjustment mechanism.

So if you track the logic, the BCUC confirmed its ROE adjustment mechanism.  One year later, Fortis threw away $900 million just to get 1.2 billion in book equity earning the BCUC ROE formula.

It is extremely difficult for me to say, as a result of that, that the BCUC ROE formula was an unfair rate of return.  The fact is you can only allocate capital by paying market prices.

So the fact that the book equity rate of return might be higher in certain circumstances than the United States tells us nothing about whether capital would be reallocated there.  Capital would be reallocated there if the market-based rate of return, the rate of return based upon the market value you have to pay for those assets, is higher.  And you have to pay a premium to buy US assets, just as Fortis paid a premium to buy TGI's assets.

That's why the legal criteria is the allocation of capital, invested capital of the enterprise, to equivalent risk securities, or words to that effect.

MR. MONDROW:  I guess there is a related question which has been floating around, which is:  Even if you look at investments by the holding company in one of its operations, utility operations, regulated utility operations in Canada, versus a regulated pipe in the US, there is a risk, the utilities say, of the parent allocating its limited capital to the US rather than to Canada.

Do you have any thoughts on that?

DR. BOOTH:  No.  As I think I mentioned, 20 years ago we did have problems in Canada.  The federal government asked the provinces to issue US dollar debt to bring the money back to Canada to support the exchange rate.

We had huge federal deficits.  We had significant inflationary problems.  We had a whole bunch of problems.  We don't have those problems anymore.  Canada is now in a surplus in terms of generating capital, and we have a lot of money coming out of Canada.

At the moment, we're in a recession, but even there, the federal government has prompted a very, very careful deficit.  Most of it is targeted one-time ROE money that will reverse once the economy recovers, and the economy is recovering.

I am very bullish on Canada.  I think we will see a surplus in Canada for the foreseeable future.  Some of that capital will get exported.  I don't see that as a bad thing.  In fact, I see it as a good thing.  It is a sign that we, as Canadians, are wealthier and we've got the capital to invest not just in our infrastructure and assets, but we have money to buy the American assets, because they're not saving enough.

So I would say bully for us and bad for the Americans.

MR. MONDROW:  Thanks.

MR. GARNER:  Are there other questions?

MR. PENNY:  Mark, I have a question, and I am very mindful of your comments, Mark, about the purpose of the consultation.  So -- and I do think that most of what we want to say we can do in the submissions, but I have a factual question for you, Mr. Booth, and that is coming back to your slide which is taken from page 24 of your written material.

Mr. Cass asked you some questions about that.  I must say I had trouble locating, or I could not locate this presentation anywhere.  Can you make it available to us, please?

DR. BOOTH:  Sure.  No problem.

MR. PENNY:  So we have the whole presentation.

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  Thanks very much.  That would be appreciated.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Michael.

DR. BOOTH:  I think Kathy has a question.  Experts usually don't cross experts, but I am looking for --

MR. GARNER:  Kathy, go ahead.

MS. McSHANE:  I actually wanted to come back to this graph, two of these bond ratings, since my name appears on the bottom of the slide.

DR. BOOTH:  It does?  Where is that?

MS. McSHANE:  It does.

DR. BOOTH:  That was the 2007.

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  So the presentation that you are talking about that I made, it was all electric utilities.

DR. BOOTH:  That's because of the Ontario Power Generation.

MS. McSHANE:  Right.  So we didn't have any gas distributors in that group.  So we don't really have a sense from this what the ratings of the gas distributors are in the US versus Canada.

DR. BOOTH:  As an undertaking, could I ask you to provide that data?

[Laughter]

MS. McSHANE:  I can tell you -- I mean, I can tell you that the typical rating of gas distributors is in the A category, which is similar to what we see here.

The other thing that I wondered whether you could help us with, or maybe I could help you with, is:  Do you have a sense of -- when you look at this group of numbers, I mean, whether there is a systematic difference between what you might see for a vertically integrated electric utility and a distribution electric utility such as we are dealing with in Ontario.

DR. BOOTH:  Do I perceive the risk of a vertically integrated utility as being less than the sum of its parts; is that what you are asking me?

MS. McSHANE:  I am asking you if you would see the risk of a vertically integrated utility, say such as -- I mean, if you look at Canada and whether -- the investor-owned integrated utilities here.  I mean, we don't have very many that are investor-owned.  Basically, we've got --

DR. BOOTH:  What is BCE?

MS. McSHANE:  Fortis, BCE and Nova Scotia Power, which is a BBB-rated utility, effectively.

DR. BOOTH:  True.

MS. McSHANE:  So I guess where I am going with this is that if we are trying to compare like to like, where we are talking about electric distribution and gas distribution, I mean, is it really fair to say, Well, look, the universe of US utilities is -- you know, is rated in the BBB category?

DR. BOOTH:  Okay.  The evidence we've got, that you provided, is that the US electrical industry has got inferior bond ratings to those in Canada, and you did only choose those that had investment-grade bond ratings, so presumably there are some in the US that don't have investment-grade bond ratings.  And we have the evidence from Peter Kind that as far as he was concerned when he made his presentations to regulators, he put these slides together and he indicated a deterioration in quality.

What I think everybody can agree on is there is absolutely no evidence that US utilities have better bond ratings than Canadian utilities.  All of the evidence is to the opposite.

So even if they have the same bond ratings, given the fact that they've got higher allowed rates of return, supposedly, and given the fact they have more equity, if they had the same business risks, they would have better bond ratings.

So there is no evidence they have got better bond ratings, and there is a lot of evidence that Standard & Poor's looks at them and says, Well, all of these utility holding companies are causing all sorts of problems, and then rate them down, because they're not ring fenced, and because US state regulators have not protected their utilities from being raided by takeovers and other means.

MS. McSHANE:  Well, for some, that is true.  I mean, I wouldn't disagree with that.  But, let's say, look at --

DR. BOOTH:  Can we have that on the record?

MS. McSHANE:  Sorry?

DR. BOOTH:  Can we have that on the record?  "I wouldn't disagree with that."

MS. McSHANE:  I said there are some.  I didn't say the universe.

DR. BOOTH:  That's the problem.  How many states in the union?  Fifty states in the union.

MS. McSHANE:  Last time I looked.

DR. BOOTH:  Some of them are close to being Canadian regulated; some of them are not.

MS. McSHANE:  Isn't that also similar in Canada?  Can you really say that the regulatory model across the country is the same?

DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  When I look across Canada, I look at the ability of Canadian utilities to earn their allowed rate of return and I have yet to see any jurisdiction in Canada where a regulated utility does not consistently earn its allowed rate of return.

And when I look across the utilities, they're all -- jurisdictions are all doing the same thing.  The BCUC adds a little bit to the ROE, as well as adjusting the equity ratio.  The Alberta Utilities Commission just adjusts the equity ratio.

The Régie gives all sorts of deferral accounts and protection for Gaz Mét.  They all approach it in a slightly different way.  The fact is the end result is Canadian utilities are pretty homogeneous.  They earn their allowed rates of return and they're growing at the same sorts of allowed rates of return, and the financial parameters in the deferral accounts are there to adjust for that.

So I think the Canadian regulatory model, the overall implication is the same:  Lower utility risk, get a lower cost of capital to lower the overall rates for utilities.  It is a win-win.  Low rates for customers, low risk for the utility, and the capital markets are able to finance that package.  I don't see why that regulatory compact should be changed.

MS. McSHANE:  So a Nova Scotia Power is the same risk as an AltaLink?

DR. BOOTH:  I haven't looked at Nova Scotia Power.  That is the one place in Canada I haven't testified, so I would defer on that.  But AltaLink has got almost no risk.  As you know, practically everything is passed on in monthly rates to the distributors; whereas Nova Scotia Power is more of an integrated electrical utility, whereas Altalink is just a transmission grid.

MS. McSHANE:  That is sort of my point.

DR. BOOTH:  Sorry?

MS. McSHANE:  Really, when you are looking at these ratings that you are dealing with, on the one hand, a universe of companies that is largely focussed in integrated electric utilities, where in Canada most of the integrated electric utilities are government-owned.  So, I mean, there is a bit of a difference in the breakdown of the company.

So that when you are focussing on the companies that we are interested here, we're dealing with companies that are more like for like.

DR. BOOTH:  When you look at the DBRS bond ratings --and I use DBRS because S&P has this holding company problem and, as a result, there is differences in their ratings because of the parent company's ownership of the operating sub.

If you look at the DBRS ratings, they're pretty uniform.  The only ones that stick out are basically, there are some size problems.  Otherwise, almost all of the Canadian utilities have got good investment-grade bond ratings and they have no problems accessing capital.  And they don't get the spread in the ratings that get in the United States.  That indicates to me that regulation in Canada is relatively homogeneous.

MS. McSHANE:  Well, can I ask another question?  And this is a totally different subject.

MR. GARNER:  Can I just do a spot check?  We haven't had a break scheduled, but when I look around and the number of questions, there is about three left to go.  I am wondering if the room would rather us break and reconvene at 11 o'clock to pick up the questions.

MR. MONDROW:  I have one question on this topic that Kathy was talking about, if you don't mind, before the break -- if no one minds, before the break?

MR. GARNER:  I will turn the floor to you, ask his question, and then we will break until 11 o'clock.

MR. MONDROW:  Thanks.  It is actually maybe a question for Concentric.  We have been talking about -- Kathy raised this issue and I think Fred raised this issue about the bond ratings from the rating agencies in Canada versus the US for the utilities.

Concentric has some information in its written report.  Maybe we will come back to it after the break, Mark.  It is Concentric 02.  It's page 1 of 3.  If I am reading this right, it does provide a bit of information on credit ratings for what Concentric says are natural gas utilities.

Really, I wanted to understand, perhaps from Concentric, whether these comparators would be relevant in respect of the Canadian gas utilities.  So we can leave that with them and maybe they can help us after.

MR. GARNER:  I will leave that for us to come back to at 11 o'clock.

MR. WETSTON:  Mark, let me say something before we break.

MS. BRICKENDEN:  Your mic.

MR. WETSTON:  I really want to encourage everybody here to take the opportunity to have a discussion.  The purpose of organizing this consultation was to have a discussion.  It is rare that we could have the experts in the room talking to each other.

Now, I recall many years ago adjudicating on a matter where three experts were called and they talked to each other and debated the issues.  Part of that is helpful, I think, to try to understand these issues.

We put forward a group of questions and hoped that the participants would try and answer the questions.  Now, for the most part, a number of individuals have done it in different ways.


When we break, what I am going to ask you to consider is to have a discussion with Dr. Booth while he is here, if he could spend a bit more time with us.  We have experts in this room.  I love hearing from the lawyers, but -- clearly, but it is an opportunity to have that exchange that is just now going on, for example.

I would encourage you to try to take the time and do some of that.  That was one of the purposes for holding a consultation.

I always recognize the danger of having any kind of a "proceeding", in small P, dealing with cost of capital.  I understand that.  I recognize the desire to focus on the numbers in the formula and what the formula will produce.  I understand that.

But, please, take an opportunity to help inform this panel, this Board, about some of these issues.  That's not to challenge the good work of the lawyers in this particular room.

So thank you, Mark, and I would ask you to consider doing that when we return.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  The lawyers get a decaf.  The experts get a coffee.

--- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:00 a.m.

MR. GARNER:  So if we could restart?  Where I would like to start up, back with Kathy.  I had interrupted you just before we broke.  Sorry, there was a question pending, you are right, Kathy, and I am not sure how we want to resolve that.  Did someone want to speak to that?  Jim?

MR. COYNE:  Thank you, yes.  I would be glad to address it.

With respect to Mr. Mondrow's question related to credit ratings for US companies, I think the best way to look at that would be to turn to appendix D of our written submission, table 1.

I have alerted Alex to that, hoping he might be able to help us get there.  That's page D-5 in that appendix.  Oh, it's --

MR. WETSTON:  You're going to have a sore neck.

MR. COYNE:  Probably sore eyes, too.  For those of you with hard copies, it might make it easier.  Am I close enough to the microphone?

What I think it is instructive to look at the data this way, because this compares both Ontario's utilities to those in the electric proxy groups we have used for the cost of capital analysis.

We use credit rating as one of the primary screens for choosing for proxy group and cost of capital analysis.  As you can see here in table 1, page D-5, the credit ratings for Ontario's electric LDCs - and this is for the large ones - range from A to A plus.

As you can see below for the US proxy group, once again, they're all in the A up to -- in fact, we have one company that is in the AA range.

So it is possible, choosing from the universe -- and I think where this can get a little bit clouded is by looking at the universe of electric utilities in either Canada or the US.  I think it is more instructive to look at specific companies as we do here.

You can see that it is possible to select a group that have very much the same credit ratings as do the Ontario electric utilities.

We are looking there both at credit ratings at the holding company level, as well as at the individual utility companies where they issue their own debt.

So, again, these are in the A to AA range, very much comparable to those of Ontario's LDCs.

The same is true, if we could turn to table 2, which is the natural gas sample.  There you can see the credit ratings for Enbridge at the parent company level, as well as Spectre and Union -- at both parent and subsidiary level range from the A minus to the BBB plus level or down to the BBB level.

Again, the proxy group sample that we have chosen from the US includes credit ratings that are very much in the same range.  They're from BBB up to the A rated level for Piedmont.

So it is possible to choose a comparable set of electric utilities that exactly match the credit ratings of those that exist in Ontario.  So I think from a cost of capital analysis, that is the appropriate way to proceed, so you can compare it like to like.

I think, as we saw with the Merrill Lynch slide, groupings of utilities can include a lot of things you don't mean to include.  They may include unregulated companies and things of the like, so this is a way to control for credit ratings that are actually comparable.

So I hope that is responsive to Mr. Mondrow's question.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much.  That's good.

MR. GARNER:  I wonder, Dr. Booth, would you care to comment at all?

DR. BOOTH:  It is always possible to draw a sample from a population that is equivalent to the population from another group.  As I mentioned in what I put together, the -- men seem to be stronger than women, but it is perfectly possible to form a sample of very strong women that are equivalent to weak men.

So the question is whether you draw a conclusion from the sample that is representative of the population.  What we have in Canada is the total population of the utilities in Canada have higher credit ratings than the total population in the United States, but it is possible to form samples of low-risk US utilities that are equivalent to the total population in Canada.

I think Concentric -- correct me if I am wrong, but when I put together -- and I have been dragged in to looking at US evidence over the last few years, because it is cropping up more and more in Canada.  I thought my sample from -- the nexus or the connection between Ms. McShane's sample and a sample put together by Dr. Gilbert -- Kolby and Gilbert, and correct me if I am wrong, but you used the sample that -- the joint sample that I came up with; is that correct?

MR. COYNE:  We did use that in our Alberta analysis, yes.

DR. BOOTH:  So you basically just use the sample -- the intersection of two samples that I looked at using testimony for other US witnesses.

So it is absolutely possible to form a sample from a risky universe that is low risk and compare it to the universe or the population of Canadian utilities.  So I don't deny that.

In fact, my testimony, one of my appendices is based on that.  And that sample of US utilities has low betas, very much similar to Canadian utilities.

MR. COYNE:  In due respect to the Board, when we say risky universe, the universe of gas utilities in the US have the same credit ratings as the universe of gas utilities in Canada.

Where they differ is if you just look at the investor-owned universe of electric utilities in the US versus the investor-owned universe -- excuse me, versus the universe of all electric utilities in Canada.

If you were to include the municipal and government-owned electric utilities in the US, they have credit ratings that are as high as AAA for entities such as Bonneville, for example, Lower Colorado River Authority.

So if one were to compare then universe to universe, I think even there, they would be comparable.  But I think the important point that I believe that Dr. Booth and we are agreeing on is that it is possible to select a like-to-like set of companies to compare on a credit rating basis.

DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  So I have got an appendix that looks increasingly at US evidence.  In fact, I have now got three appendices directed towards US evidence, because every rate hearing I am involved with now, the utilities bring forward American witnesses, and there is very little Canadian evidence put forward by the utilities.  It tends to be American witnesses.

And so, as a result, I am forced to look increasingly at the US LDCs, and I have done that both in the sample of S&P gas and electric utilities, I have looked at a sample from Ms. McShane and Dr. Gilbert's samples, and I have looked at US capital market evidence, because you can't have US witnesses putting forward information for the US that doesn't go unchallenged and doesn't get suitably looked at.

So I have been brought into looking at that.  But as I said to Mr. Cass, I am not an expert on the US.  I am being dragged into become an expert on the US, but I have no intention of testifying in the US.  I have a day job and I have no desire to go running around the United States testifying.  I am busy enough as it is.

MR. CARMICHAEL:  Could I address this chart?  I think someone -- well, I was speaking to the Board's testimony on this notion that generally -- whoops, excuse me.  Is that on, sorry -- testimony on this notion that US utilities are riskier than Canadian utilities.

I was actually shocked at that suggestion, based on my experience, in terms of dealing with credit rating agencies and issuers over an extended period of time.

I was asked this similar question when I was out in BC last week, and let me provide you with some insight in terms of how I responded to it.

In the situation in BC, I was actually given this chart and asked to comment on it.  And I think the key thing about this chart is, first of all, the title, where it says "Power and Utilities Industry".

The power industry is different - and I will highlight this - is very different from the utilities industry, particularly in the United States.

The power industry in the United States consists of firms like, if you will, for example, Calpine, who buys, you know, 80 jet engines and runs around the country and plunks them in, and generates power based on natural gas.

Now, many of those companies, between the period 1998 and 2008, clearly deteriorated in credit.  In fact, Calpine, as an example, went into bankruptcy.

And without knowing the actual composition of the companies that go into this chart, I would argue that this chart, in and of itself, is meaningless.  It doesn't tell anyone anything about the direction of utility credits or, given the way it is presented, the direction of power credits.  But more based on -- well, just stories in the news, you know, that the power industry has gone through a difficult turn in the United States.


The other aspect to this is that during this period, 1998 to 2008, many consolidated utilities unbundled, dropped generation -- their generation business into one separate business, and spun their transmission and distribution into other businesses.

Generally, the result of that, particularly if the generation businesses were operating in competitive businesses, was that the credit rating of those competitive businesses was below the credit rating of the previously consolidated utility.


And both of those, I think, are consistent with the trends that are shown in this table.

Now, if we could look at the actual presentation and look at the makeup of these tables, maybe more light would be shed on that.  But in terms of my experience, that's the direction that the power industry has gone, and I think, while the power industry has deteriorated in terms of its credit, the utility industry has maintained its credit.

DR. BOOTH:  I would agree with all of that, but there's two big caveats.

One, I didn't put this table together.  Merrill Lynch Bank America put it together to make a presentation to regulators in the United States.  So you have to ask the question:  If it's so bad, why didn't they put another overhead together?  The fact is Bank America, Merrill Lynch made this presentation, and I -- we only provide the presentation.  They thought it was relevant.  We may not think it relevant, but the fact is they did this.

Secondly -- I've just lost my train of thought.  Never mind.  I will come back to it.  I have a second point on that, as well, but the -- never mind.  I will come back to it.  I will think about it a minute.


MR. GARNER:  While you are giving it some thought, and a little interlude to this, we will be circulating around a paper from Mr. Akman from Macquarie Research Equities that was written in February 2009, and perhaps can shed some light on the -- Mr. Akman's views in 2008 vis-à-vis his views later in 2009.  So we will circulate that around to let everybody have a read of that.

DR. BOOTH:  Now, the second point, now I have thought about it, is the question is when you get evidence before a regulatory board in the United States, they look at utility analysts, they look at discounted cash flow, they look at the market prices, and they apply that to work out a fair rate of return for US regulated utilities.

So what you have to ask is:  What is in the mind of the investors determining utility prices in the United States?  And what is in the minds of the investors in Canada when they determine the prices for utility holding companies?


So what I would suggest is that American investors very much have all of this deregulation in the United States, they have the problems with PG&E, they have the problems of Enron, they have the problems of telecommunications, they have the downgrades as a result of event risk in the United States in mind when they value US utilities, and that's in their minds when they determine risk premiums and it is in their minds when they determine the prices.  And if people like Mr. Coyne and Kathy go along and estimate fair rates of return correctly, they're estimating the fair rates of return to flow from US investors that have exactly these sorts of things in mind when they think about US utilities.


So we can argue, well, this is generating or it is power.  It is not the regulated side.  But the question is:  What do the US investors think of when they think of investing in utility stocks in the United States?  And I would suggest they have something completely different in mind than what our investors have.


And when you think about what is happening in Canada, probably the biggest power company in Canada right now is TransCanada.  It has moved decisively from being a regulated pipeline into buying not just the Bruce leases for generating electricity, but also big investments in the United States to generate electricity.


So this is directly comparable information.

MS. McSHANE:  Sorry, when you say it is directly comparable, to what?

DR. BOOTH:  Well, when we estimate risk preferences for TransCanada, we are now -- I mean obviously we are looking at the risk preferences and the behaviour of TransCanada over a period of time, when the nature of TransCanada's operations have changed.  From the problems with all of its unregulated businesses in the late '90s, its retrenchment to regulated businesses in the early 2000s, and now we're seeing it move into power markets in a big way.

MS. McSHANE:  But clearly, doesn't that suggest something about them looking for better returns elsewhere?

DR. BOOTH:  It indicates that TransCanada is a very big company.  It's buying pipelines in the US.  It is moving into regulated op -- power in the US and power in Canada.  And it is allocating all that corporate capital, because the main line, as you know, is the declining rate base pipeline, and it has got a huge amount of cash flow and they're looking to reinvest that money elsewhere.


And now they will invest in the US; they will invest in Canada.  They will invest where they get a risk-adjusted rate of return that enhances value for TransCanada shareholders.


So I have no problem saying that they're going to look at the US.  I look at the US.  I have investments in the US.  You have to look at the US, but that does not mean to say the rates of return in the US can be taken without any adjustment into the Canadian market.  And that is also what the National Energy Board said.  They said that US proxies are useful as long as we make adjustments for known risks.  What those known risks are, they weren't very specific.

MR. GARNER:  Any follow-up, counsel, you want to --


MS. McSHANE:  No, I wanted to come back to my -- the question I was thinking about before we broke.

MR. GARNER:  Please.


MS. McSHANE:  Admittedly, I am not sure I thought this all the way through, so -- so bear with me.

I understand from what I have read, that you presented here -- and I think in the recent proceeding, we were in together in British Columbia, that that your view is that the rate of return for -- and I will limit it to Canadian utilities -- is effectively driven by the expected rate of inflation.


DR. BOOTH:  I think as long as we stay -- as long as the Bank of Canada maintains and the Government of Canada maintains its commitment to a range of 1 to 3 percent for inflation, 2 percent target rate, and up until a year or 18 months ago, they were actually thinking about price stability, let alone one to 3 percent inflation.  I think that has gone by the board, but as long as you have got 1 to 3 percent inflation over the whole of the business cycle, you would expect long Canada rates to be between 4 and 5, or 4 and 5-1/2 percent.  They're going to vary because as you go into recession, the yields are going to go down.  Competition for capital is going to be less.  And when you get to a boom, they're going to be moving up.  But long Canada yields are going to be relatively stable.  They're going to float with the business cycle.  And the overall fair rate of return is going to be reasonably stable.

So when we started putting adjustment mechanisms in place in '93 and '94, we weren't at that stage.  We still had huge federal deficits.  We had huge financial problems.  The capital markets didn't believe that the federal government was committed to lowering the deficit, which is why we had huge yield spreads on the real return bond and the long Canada bond.  But the Bank of Canada has shown commitment, and we have got stable inflation.  And as long as we've got that stable inflation, the core reason for differences in nominal rates of return disappears because that's the expected rate of inflation.

MS. McSHANE:  But when did we get there?  When do we get the --


DR. BOOTH:  It's not when we got there.  It is when the capital markets --


MS. McSHANE:  Sorry.


DR. BOOTH:  -- they believed in the commitment of the Bank of Canada.

MS. McSHANE:  Well, were we there in '97?


DR. BOOTH:  I think we were moving there in '97.  That was when we moved into surplus at the federal level.  People still thought that:  Well, as soon as they get the money, they're going to spend it, which they didn't.  They shed it one-third deficit reduction, one-third tax reductions, one-third pay-off.  I forget what the exact -- one-third to reducing debt, one-third to reducing taxes, one-third to program spending.

But I think it is remarkable the prudency shown at the federal level, not so much at the provincial level, but at the federal level in controlling spending over the last ten years, and that has changed the whole tenor of the capital markets in Canada.

MS. McSHANE:  So we were getting there in '97.

DR. BOOTH:  Getting there in '97.

MS. McSHANE:  When the Board came out with its draft guidelines - I mean, that is sort of the point in time I am focussing on - clearly the consensus forecasts at that point were looking at long-term inflation in the 2 percent range.

So were the capital markets there yet?

DR. BOOTH:  No.  The economists were there, but the capital markets weren't.  The economists don't buy bonds.  They don't buy equity.  They sit in their rooms.  They come up with forecasts and they do macroeconomic models, and they're not the people who make the money decisions.  The money decisions are made by the investors who are buying bonds and equities.

MS. McSHANE:  Were we there --

DR. BOOTH:  Until early the 2000s, we had yields on -- real return bonds that reflected significant inflation risk and uncertainty about federal deficits, and we still had an inflation gap or break-even inflation rate between the nominal and real bond that didn't really reflect what was actually happening in the economy.

But I think the Bank of Canada and the Government of Canada has gained that credibility now, and we can see that, because the break-even inflation rate is just over 2 percent, and the government actually has been pretty successful for 16 years now in keeping inflation in Canada at a low rate.

I don't see them throwing that away.  It has cost us too much to ring out inflation in the economy to see a return to significant inflation.

MS. McSHANE:  So we were getting there in the '97.  In 2003, when the Board reviewed the formula -- presumably we were there by that time.

DR. BOOTH:  We were pretty much there by then.

MS. McSHANE:  So even then, though, I guess what I am trying to get my head around is we were looking at long-term Canada bond yields in 2003.

DR. BOOTH:  5.1 percent.

MS. McSHANE:  Forecasting, we were looking around six.

DR. BOOTH:  That's right.

MS. McSHANE:  Now, we are looking at 4-1/2 to 4.75, and would you say that is kind of what you expect over the long term?

DR. BOOTH:  No.  I would say that is where we are at this stage in the business cycle.  We have just come through a very severe recession and interest rates go down in recessions.  Inflation goes down in recessions.

Royal Bank and Scotia Capital are forecasting the long Canada bond to increase to 4.5, 4.75 over 2010.  And I would suspect that when the boom follows this bust, as it will, we will see -- 2011, 2012, we will probably see long Canada bonds back at 5-1/2 percent at the top of the market.  That's why I said as long as you keep within 1 to 3 percent, there is a range for the long Canada bond yield.  It is going to fluctuate with the business cycle, but it is not going to be 10 percent and it is not going to be 2 percent, because to say that means that the Bank of Canada is going to throw away all of its credibility that it has established in controlling the inflation in the system.

It is just not going to happen, not unless there is some cataclysmic event.  And cataclysmic events do occur.  Who would have thought the Americans would almost destroy their financial system two years ago?  But they did.

MS. McSHANE:  So I still want to come back to this long Canada thing.  So 4-1/2 to 4.75 is still, in your view, a --

DR. BOOTH:  A recovery.

MS. McSHANE:  -- a recovery-type yield, expecting them in the -- say, at the peak of the expansion, to be in the 5-1/2 percent range?

DR. BOOTH:  I would expect them to get back to where they were three, four years ago, which is 2003, which, as I said, we are at least a year, if not 18 months, ahead in the business cycle.  We weren't at the peak, which was 2006, end of 2006, when long Canada bonds yields were in the mid fives.  That is where I would expect them to go back to at the peak of the next cycle.

MS. McSHANE:  Thus average something like 5 percent?

DR. BOOTH:  Of the whole business cycle.

MS. McSHANE:  That's what I'm trying to get at.

DR. BOOTH:  With a whole business cycle and with a 2 percent average inflation rate, perhaps a little bit more than that.  You're looking at 4-1/2 to 5 percent average long Canada rates.

MS. McSHANE:  And given that we were sort of in the 2 percent expected rate of inflation scenario back in, say, 2003, why are we looking at a lower level of long-term Canada bond yields going forward?

DR. BOOTH:  Because up until November/December, people were seriously worried we were in a Great Depression, too.  We were in deflation because of what was happening in the US financial system.

And if you go back and look at November, December, the collapse of Lehman Brothers, all of the problems that followed on - the market dropped November 23rd, 24th, Citibank was down to three dollars, the US rescued Citibank - at that stage, you couldn't watch CNN without people talking about deflation and about collapsing prices and the possibility of a Great Depression, too.

In that scenario, you don't buy the real return bond, because the real return bond is not going to -- with deflation, you will get less back in the future.  You buy the nominal bond.

So a lot of people buy nominal bonds because 3, 4 percent look pretty good if you are into a depression and deflation.  It did look very good once the US rescued the banking system and you started getting credit flowing again; and you saw the spread between the real and the nominal bond rebound, and it is now back up to 2.1 percent, 2.2 percent, which is -- the markets are telling us we're out of that crisis of the fall.

Before the Alberta Utilities Commission, I said, in the fall of 2008, we were in a situation of uncertainty.  People simply didn't know what was going to happen.  They couldn't assign probabilities.  They couldn't manage the risk.

Now we're in a situation of risk.  To use a phrase my son used, Been there, done that, got the T-shirt.  We know what happens in recessions.  We know what happens in booms.  We can assess the risk of what is happening in the financial system at the moment, and it is manageable; whereas back in the fall, it was a situation of uncertainty.

We literally did not know what is going to happen and there was severe -- significant discussion of a Great Depression.

MS. McSHANE:  I still -- I am a little confused, because what I am trying to compare is today with, say, 2003.

DR. BOOTH:  Well, there we were ahead in the business cycle, so interest rates --

MS. McSHANE:  Right, right.  I didn't really mean to be that precise about exactly where we were in the business cycle.  But it almost -- I mean, if you follow your approach to estimating the return, you sort of said that, really, economic conditions today are not that different than they were in 2003, putting aside at the minute we're at a slightly different point in the business cycle, but in a macroeconomic sense.

DR. BOOTH:  In a macroeconomic sense, I would say, as I have said, we're 18 months behind in the business cycle.  So interest rates are slightly different.  I would say 2003 was actually the start of the run-up in commodity prices.

So if you go back to 2003, the Canadian dollar was at 65 cents, and now we're at 93 cents.  So I think the only major difference is commodity prices and the implications for the strength of the Canadian dollar, and for tax revenues and keeping inflation relatively low in Canada.

I was saying last year we're in a virtual circle.  Everything in Canada was going right:  Strong dollar, low inflation, tax rates were going down, surpluses.  It was like, What on earth can go wrong?  Then we discovered what could go wrong, but the important thing is it was nothing that was generated in Canada.  It was something that flowed through from what happened in the United States

The US has now solved its problems.  The US is going to get back in to recovery.  It has long-run problems, but I would say right now Canada is back into a virtual circle.  We will get out of the deficit problems relatively quickly.

The Canadian dollar is going to go back to par, and we will see further tax cuts, perhaps not in the GST or the harmonized sales tax, but the overall position in Canada is the most favourable of any of the G8 countries.  And we have to take that into account in what happens in the capital markets.

MS. McSHANE:  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Thanks, Kathy.  Are there other questions?  Michael.

MR. JANIGAN:  I had a question directed to me that is better put to Dr. Booth.

What can you tell us about the behaviour of the credit ratings of Canadian and US utilities during the financial crisis, and is the information about those ratings useful in terms of making a comparison?

DR. BOOTH:  What can I say about them?  I am not aware of any significant downgrades by Canadian utilities.

The only one I am aware of is that Moody's upgraded Newfoundland Power, and I think Moody's has re-evaluated the weight that it placed on secured lending.

So there's been a move over the last 20, 25 years to unsecured lending.  You basically file a shell prospectus, use your medium-term notes, and they're unsecured.

The problem with that is you have all of this event risk, because if the parent company changes, you've got unsecured bonds, you are dead in the water.  You can suffer huge losses.  So Moody's has re-evaluated the value it places on secured debts, because once you've got secured debt, it is a lot more difficult for event risk to affect the value of the debt.

So I was always arguing for years that we shouldn't allow utilities to basically issue unsecured debt.  It's easier to do that because they don't have to register a mortgage in a whole series of provinces and it is easier to just issue MTNs, but there is a risk of this event risk, and secured debt removes that risk.  So the only one I'm aware of is Moody's beginning to place more reliance on secured lending, and they have upgraded Newfoundland Power because of that, two notches.

MR. JANIGAN:  How does that compare with the United States utilities?

DR. BOOTH:  I am not aware of the ratings history in the United States, so I wouldn't -- perhaps --


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, presumably Moody's, since it's a US rating agency, would put the same emphasis in the US as they would in Canada.

DR. BOOTH:  I think it is the same reaction to ring fencing and the fact that, you know, the bondholders, if they lose money the rating agencies respond and they give more credit if there is more security.

And covenant provisions can be gotten around, so even DBRS in its ratings evaluations says we don't put a great stock on covenant provisions, but they do put a great stock on underlying collateral.  And the only real ringer to that is the GM bonds, the secured debt holders got -- lost a lot of money when the US government basically reallocated capital away from the secured bond holders to the pension funds and the UAW.

So who knows whether that is going to be a permanent feature of the US market?

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. GARNER:  Ian.

MR. MONDROW:  Thanks, Mark.  I just wonder, Mr. Coyne, while Concentric is here, of -- I think what people are talking about, and pardon me if I don't quite have it right, is what has been the recent observed pattern, if any, in respect of credit ratings for utilities?  And we talked about Canada; can you add -- shed any light on the United States?  Has there been downgrading in the United States associated with the financial market collapse and the events of the last year or so?

MR. COYNE:  Well, I am not aware of any credit rating downgrades or watches specifically due to the economic events of the last 18 months.

I think that the credit rating agencies watch, through the same groups, they watch both Canadian and US utilities.  What we have observed is just a continued concern for weakness in the economy that translates to weakness in demand.

So they have expressed concerns for those that already have weak credit metrics that they would degrade further, but I am not aware of a specific downgrade that has occurred as a result of it.

But I think the economic crisis is going to put them on notice that even though utilities are utilities, demand itself is subject to the vagaries of the economy.  So it is an issue to watch pretty closely

DR. BOOTH:  Most of the rating agencies follow what they call a stable rating philosophy, which is they look through the cycle and they say:  Okay it is a recession.  What do we expect to happen in a recession?  We expect to lose a little bit of money.  We expect problems.  As long as those things happen, they're not going to downgrade for sort of predictable, cyclical events.

So DBRS, specifically, has a stable rating philosophy, that they will not change the rating unless they think that something fundamentally happened to the company.  I am sure that Moody's and S&P have got the same philosophy.

MR. COYNE:  This does not relate directly to the credit rating question, but to me, in this debate, there is one picture that I think is instructive, and I hope it is not even controversial.  And I wonder, with Alex's help, if we could put up page 6 from the presentation we gave when we were here, because it shows the picture of the long Canada bond.  I thought that was an interesting discussion between Kathy McShane and Dr. Booth on that issue.

Thank you.

And what this shows is that beginning in 1994, '93/'94 when we saw the first development of the formula in Canada, that interest expectations weren't as have evolved over time.  And as we can see, the long Canada bond has been driven, as a result of the evolution of fiscal policy -- as Dr. Booth so well describes -- has been driven to levels well below what anyone would have expected, and I would submit well below any expectations that regulators would have had in Canada, both in 1994 when the NEB first introduced its formula and in 1997.

What we show in this chart are the consensus forecasts that existed at that period of time.

So I would suggest what we are characterizing as one of the fundamental issues associated with the formula is that there wasn't an expectation of this continued downward path in long Canada bonds.

And as a result of that, we have seen the erosion of ROEs in Canada that hasn't occurred, because there wasn't this direct tie to long Canada -- to bonds.  And we're following pretty much the same path in the US as they were in Canada.  On the analysis that we provided, we showed that the 10-year bond between Canada and the US has only differed by a few basis points over the same period of time.

And they sit in virtual party today, 3.31 percent for the 10-year bonds in both countries.

So it has been an evolution that has occurred in both countries very much in parallel, but the difference was this direct linkage to the long bond here that we didn't see in the US, which is behind this gap that we have seen develop.

So I think it is a pretty fundamental issue around expectations regarding the macroeconomy that was behind what's happened with the formula.

I come back to it again when we look for causation.  That is why we talked when we were here last about California now going toward an economy - toward a formula.  And they were, I think, duly cautious in terms of adopting a formula.  They said they were going to have a three-year review, and the decision they passed on for review, because they were concerned with the ability of any formula to perform well over time, so they wanted to have checkpoints over time to ensure that it was.

So I guess I just -- I submit that -- that picture, once again, for consideration in terms of the impacts of the trends that Dr. Booth described so well, and what the impact that they have had on our research here in Canada, that I would argue is unanticipated.

DR. BOOTH:  I will say a couple of things to that.

Kathy used to testify with Steve Sherwood before the OEB, and I remember hearings in the '90s where routinely, long Canada bond yields were 125 basis points higher than they were in the United States and that was regarded as normal.  And it was normal at that stage of the business cycle, and it was normal given the financial problems we had in Canada.

Of course, the decline in interest rates wasn't forecast.  Otherwise they would have declined immediately.  So the fact is it has taken years for the Bank of Canada to gain credibility in terms of inflation and cause those interest rates to come down.

So right now, Canada is in a better position than the United States.  We have lost that 125 basis points premium to US rates, and we are now below US rates, which is consistent with what you would think, given everything that is happening in the Canada and the United States.

Now, why did they both come down?  Well, the answer there is simple.  In the 1970s when we had the oil price shock in '72/'73 and then again in '78/'79, we had inflation running in Canada of 12, 13 percent.  The US was a little bit ahead of us in terms of the flow-through of the inflation.  But we had significant inflationary problems in Canada.  We were actually moving towards price level-adjusted accounting statements.

And the decision was, in Canada and the US, this could not happen.  12 to 13 percent inflation, you're on the road for hyperinflation.  We have got to wring that out of the system.  That was the decision made by the Bank of Canada and the Government of Canada.  There was a similar decision made in the United States.  Why?  Because both economies were reacting to the oil price shocks in the 1970s and the inflation that it produced.

And the response in terms of declining interest rates has been the same in both countries.  It doesn't mean to say that those interest rates are locked in.  It just means to say that people have responded in a similar way in both financial systems to the systemic shock caused by the oil price shock in the 1970s.

And we're now in a situation where Canada can get its deficit under control.  The US in 2001 actually stopped issuing 30-year US government bonds, and there was actually discussion in 2000, 2001, what happens if the US government doesn't have any debt outstanding?  They actually talked about the UK as well; what happens if there is no UK debt outstanding?  What substitutes can we create?

The Americans have backed off of that, because they have now started issuing 30-year bonds again, because they have got significant financial problems and there is going to be significant new issuance of US government debt.  But I suspect in Canada, in a short period of time we will be going back to repaying the debt, and debt to GDP is going to go down.


So both economies right now are on a different track in terms of government financing and long-term interest rates.  And Canada, as I say again, we are now a capital exporter.  The US is a capital importer.  That has a huge implication for the way in which the capital markets behave.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, Ian, can I go to Lynne first?

MS. ANDERSON:  Sure.  Thanks.  Lynne Anderson, Hydro Ottawa.  I guess my questions are around -- they're probably a policy question, but there is a few questions I am interested in your answers on, and that is the ROE setting in an incentive regulation environment.

In particular, I guess you have mentioned many times about business cycles and being at different stages of business cycles and how we are coming out.

I guess one of the first probably unfair questions, but how long is a business cycle?  What is the range, typically?

DR. BOOTH:  When I was taught macroeconomics, I was taught by macroeconomists who said there is no such thing as a business cycle.  Why?  Because they think of a cycle as being a regular five-year cycle; things happen like that.

They don't happen like that.

We have regular movements in the economy.  We have booms and busts.  We never know what is going to cause the bust.  I have been teaching finance and I have been teaching bankers for the last 25, 30 years, and they are constantly asking me:  What is going to cause the next recession, the next bust?

I said, The last time it was telecom.  The next time is sovereign risk debt.  I said, I don't know what mistakes you are going to make next time, but I do know you are going to make mistakes and there are going to be problems, and it will filter through the economy and we will have a crash.  So don't ask me to predict exactly what it is, but we know we have these regular booms and busts.

The fact is we have now had two significant stock market crashes in the last ten years.  So the telling analysis was if you invested in 1998 in the Dow, ten or eleven years later the price of the Dow was the same.  All you would have earned was the dividend, because we had the big Internet bubble and crash, and we just had this credit-crunch-induced crash.

So the business cycle is not a nice, predictable event, but that doesn't mean to say it doesn't exist.  We have booms and busts, and that is what we mean by the business cycle.

What I do know is, in two to three years' time, we're going to have a boom, and you are going to see spreads come down and you will see the stock market recover, and people -- bankers will start making bad loans again,  And I don't know who they will make the bad loans to, but if you are a banker, you are paid to make loans, so as cash comes in and deposits, you don't get promoted by saying I am not going to make loans.

You end up making loans, credit quality deteriorates and you end up with the cycle all over again.

I have taught bankers, and they have said, We're not going to do it next time.  But it keeps happening because it is a new crop of bankers every few years.

MS. ANDERSON:  I guess that leads into my next question.  In an incentive regulation environment, the current term of the IRM, I will call it, is four years.  It could go as long as five years.

So the Board does set the ROE based on the formula every year, but you only establish it when you go and do a cost of service, and then you are basically held to that for the period of the IRM.

So I guess the question, I mean:  Is it fair to say that within a four-year period, you could be at a completely different stage of the business cycle at the end of that IRM period?

DR. BOOTH:  We certainly could be in a different stage of the business cycle.  I can guarantee that.  Whether it should affect incentive regulation, I don't see any direct link.

MS. ANDERSON:  I guess what this has led to is a situation where, depending on when you rebase, when you do your cost of service, you have electric utilities that have a 1 percent difference in their current allowed ROE, simply because of timing of the fact that when they entered into incentive regulation.

So any thoughts on the fact that once you have locked in -- you may lock in at the point in time when there is a market crash and, just by the luck of the draw, you are at a low level, where someone else -- you said two to three years spreads will go up, so, I mean, would the formula then have a higher calculation in two to three years, even though it is for a period that is spreading out of a much different business cycle over a much longer period?

DR. BOOTH:  First of all, I am a firm believer in the adjustment mechanism.  I love to talk to boards, but I don't think they want to hear me every year producing the same exhibits and the same appendices and the vast bulk of the testimony pretty much the same, particularly as long as we have 1 to 3 percent inflation.  Then it is going to be pretty much the same.

Having said that, most of what goes on in regulatory hearings is not utility specific, because the regulators control the risk of the utility, deferral accounts and capital structure adjustments.  What they end up with is a relatively homogenous product.  What then happens is that it is generic capital markets testimony.

I have recommended that all of the utilities get together, have one generic hearing every five years, have one Canada-wide ROE adjustment mechanism.

Now, I dare say the OEB is not going to give up that authority, and I don't even know whether legally they can give up that authority.  But the fact is I would recommend a generic ROE hearing for the whole of Canada and fix the ROE for basically every utility in Canada, and then leave it to each regulator to make adjustments to their utility to equalize the risk.

Now, that's not going to happen, but the fact is the vast bulk of what I discuss is generic capital market evidence.  And, you are right, it is an accident, to some extent, when they set the ROE, which is why, in the Terasen Gas testimony, I said there are other definitions of fairness apart from the standard economic definitions.

One of them is to be sort of reasonably consistent across Canada.  So that is why I am quite happy looking at ROE adjustment models across Canada and the allowed rates of return they produce, and there should be some conformity.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

DR. BOOTH:  I have been waiting to hear from Karen Taylor.

MR. GARNER:  I think Staff have some questions, but I think, Ian, you are next.

MR. MONDROW:  I wanted to ask Professor Booth, while he is here, and the others may have comment, although I think we have heard some of their comments on this.

It continues to be counterintuitive to me, and maybe you can help me, that we continue to -- a result that we continue to use a long Canada bond rate, when long Canada bonds are really a government tool we have seen starkly in the past year, and I have learned starkly in the past few years through this process, a tool for monetary fiscal policy.  Whereas, corporate utility bonds, for example, could be argued to be a better reflection of investor sentiments vis-à-vis utilities.

So I think one of the issues that has come up that I still struggle with myself is, you know:  How can you rationalize or justify continuing to use an index that has become a tool for the government to affect results, rather than a reflection of the market?  Maybe you can help with that.

DR. BOOTH:  Well, yes, you are correct.  The government does not control long-term bond yields.  The only thing the Bank of Canada controls is the overnight rate, which is why at the moment it is pushing the overnight rate down.  We have a steeply inverted -- sorry, we have a steeply normal yield curve.  The T-bill rates are 26 basis points, and you go all the way up to long Canadas at 3.9, or so, 4 percent.

That is indicative of this stage in the economy.

The government does not control anything -- or the Bank of Canada does not control anything other than the overnight rate, and that affects the yield curve.  It has a huge impact on short-term yields, a lesser impact on medium-term yields and almost no impact on long-term yields.

In fact, when the Bank of Canada started pushing up interest rates two years ago, long-term yields started to go down, because long-term investors said, Great, we're going to slow down the economy.  We'll have less inflation.  Buying a long-term bond looks a better investment.

So long-term bond yields are not under the control of the government.  They market interest rates.  Not only that, I have heard people say, Well, the supply of long-term bonds has gone down; as a result, they are no longer a good reference point.

That is absolute nonsense.  They are by far and away the biggest component of the bond market, but not just that.  The Bank of Canada has gone out of its way to sell what we call off-the-run bonds, like the 25-year maturity bond and issued benchmark bonds.

It is the benchmark bonds that we're worried about.  They're the ones that have the greatest liquidity.  They're the ones we look at to look at the yield curve.  They're the ones that we look at in terms of reference points for investor expectations.

So unless the government debt completely disappears or dramatically gets smaller -- which personally I hope it does.  For the benefit of my children and everybody's children in this room, I hope the government debt disappears, for heaven's sake, but that is not going to happen for another 20 or 30 years.

For the foreseeable future, the Bank of Canada is committed to selling on-the-run bonds, benchmark bonds, buying back off-the-run bonds to maintain liquidity in the benchmark indices, because they're critical for the swap market, for all elements of the capital market.

In terms of utility bond yields, they're not as liquid as the Government of Canada bonds.  We -- I asked investment bankers frequently to provide data on the yields on corporate bonds, the utility bonds, bid ask spreads, information about that, and I can't get it out of them.  A lot of the times, the yields are indicative.  They're not actual transactions.  They're just saying:  Well, based upon what we know, this is the indicative yield at this point in time, because there aren't any bid asks and so it is difficult to find what the market price is.  I mean, they're accurate indicatives.  But the -- in 2003, the Alberta generic, there was a proposal to key things off the utility bond yields or the A bond yields.

The AUC decided:  We can't do that, because there is not a representative index, there's not a reliable basis for keying off formula off utility bond yields.

And as I show in my evidence, there is a huge difference between the spreads and the time trend in the long Canada bond yield.  The long Canada bond yield has gone down because inflation has gone down, because we have got our deficits under control.  The spreads of the A or the BBB over the long Canada bond fluctuate with the business cycle, but they basically -- they're going to average out basically to zero.  I mean, the difference is going to average out to zero.

So all you are doing when you key things off the A bond yield or the utility bond yield is generating business cycle uncertainty through to the ROE.  But over the whole of the business cycle, you're not going to gain anything compared to basically using an average market risk premium and an average beta.  All you're going to do is generates a lot of uncertainty in the ROE, to nobody's obvious benefit.

MS. BRICKENDEN:  Lawrence, may I ask a follow-on question to Ian's question?  And I am not an expert, so I apologize in advance if my question is a little basic.

But I have noted in your comments -- and you have just alluded to it now -- that as long as the Bank of Canada has a one to 3 percent operating range for inflation, then the long-term Canada bond yield should not vary significantly from an average of 4 to 5 percent.

And when I read that statement, I read a relationship in that, that if you are managing your policies in order to target an inflation, then you are more directly affecting the potential stability of that bond yield.

And I guess my question would be, leading off of what Ian was asking:  Does that not suggest, then, that the long-term Canada bond is more sensitive to government policies in this manner than, say, a utility?

DR. BOOTH:  No.  The -- all I meant by that was that the Bank of Canada's committed to 1 to 3 percent range for inflation.

So when we started getting inflationary pressures last year -- and some of us maybe happy to be reminded, but this time last -- well, July/August last year the Canadian dollar was above par.  We had significant inflationary pressures.  The economy was humming along perfectly.  And the Bank of Canada was still worried about too much stimulus in the economy.

So it was between the devil and the deep blue sea.  They had the subprime problems in the United States causing problems, and at the same time, the Canadian economy was running very, very -- very, very quickly.

So you are still going to get problems with inflation, and the government -- the Bank of Canada is going to have to push up interest rates.  So you can see a lot of volatility in short-term interest rates.  Long-term rates are not going to be stable; they are going to move around with the business cycle.  But unless something cataclysmic happens that causes the Bank of Canada or Government of Canada to deviate from the 1 to 3 percent inflation rate, the long Canada bond yield is going to be within a reasonably narrow range.  And when I say reasonably narrow range, 4 to 5, 5-1/2 percent, something in that range.  And that is what it is going to be over the business cycle.

So it is not going to go cascading off to 10 percent, unless something seriously happens with the federal government and the Bank of Canada, and it is not going to go down to 2 percent or one percent unless we've got severe deflation.  And again, it is a game-changing situation.

So as long as the Bank of Canada looks at the economy and thinks we're going to be in the same inflation range, then everything should be reasonably stable.  And that is completely different to when the adjustment mechanism was put in place in the early to mid-1990s, because at that point the Bank of Canada didn't have credibility, which is why this 75 percent adjustment becomes important.

Now we have reached a relatively stable equilibrium in terms of inflation, in terms of the role of the Bank of Canada, which means there shouldn't be any really substantial change in the ROE over the business cycle.

So I would like to see the adjustment mechanism stay in place, unless something substantially happens to Bank of Canada Monday monetary policy.

MR. GARNER:  Is there another question?

Karen, did you have a question?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.  I do have to ask just a question.  Going into the crisis, regarding the inflation targeting, there was no change in that particular element of monetary policy.  If I think of June of 2008 to date, there has been no change in the Bank of Canada's inflation targeting policy, with the exception of that that policy, generally speaking, is going to expire and must be renewed at a point relatively soon.

So having relative stability in our inflation targets over that period of time, we saw bond rates halve, going into February of 2009.  So there had to be something else going on, so...

DR. BOOTH:  So the Bank of Canada has a target 1 to 3 percent, and we suffered a huge meltdown in the United States, and people thought:  Wow, this is going to overwhelm everybody.  It has overwhelmed the whole world's capital markets.  The aggregate loss in wealth in the stock market was about $13 trillion.  The average loss of the housing market in the United States was about a 30 percent drop in house prices.  People were worried about their pensions, because their pensions are backed by -- guess what -- stock market values and bonds.

So there was a significant loss in wealth and a significant worry that no matter what the central banks did, they couldn't stop deflation.  So we had an event last fall that I would regard as a once -- it is a black swan.  It was a once in a 70-year situation, because the US deregulated investment banking from commercial banking and a whole bunch of other things that unleashed forces that basically we hadn't seen since the 1920s.

So can the Bank of Canada keep it to 1 to 3 percent?  That's their commitment.  That is the government's commitment.  They were thinking about price stability up until a year ago.  There were a lot of policy documents of the Bank of Canada changing from 1 to 3 percent for price stability.

But central banks, people worried that they wouldn't be able to do it.  If you actually look at what the Federal Reserve and the US government did and list all of the programs, they did things that hadn't been done since the 1930s, enormous intervention in the markets.  They guaranteed practically everything; money market securities, the bank issued notes in order to try and generate stability in the US financial system.

So that was an unheard-of one-time crash, and if the US gets back to regulation of its financial services industry, I don't think we're going to see that again for another 60 to 70 years, until people forget that regulation prevents crisis, and the fact that we don't see these crisis doesn't mean to say that the underlying causes have disappeared.  And that is a very important lesson.

MR. GARNER:  Jay?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want to follow up on this question about the stable Bank of Canada rates.

You said at the beginning of your presentation that you had the three principles of corporate finance, time value of money, risk value of money, et cetera.

DR. BOOTH:  You weren't sleeping.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was listening.  Do I understand that the Bank of Canada rate or the risk-free rate is supposed to deal with the time value of money, and the market risk premium and the beta are supposed to deal with the risk value of money for a given --

DR. BOOTH:  Yes, the market risk premium is the overall market price of risk, and then the beta indicates the relative risk of a particular stock.  Basically, it is a contribution of that stock to a diversified portfolio.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And -- and the market risk premium is stable over long periods, right?

DR. BOOTH:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Over long periods?

DR. BOOTH:  I would say that risk aversion and risk premiums do change.  But -- so there is a big literature in finance looking at what we call conditional asset pricing or conditional risk aversion.  So risk aversion and market risk premiums do change over the business cycle.

Whether they change accurately enough to formulate an ROE is a separate question.  I mean it is bad enough Kathy and I and other witnesses arguing about the size of the market risk premium, but let alone talking about how it has changed this year relative to last year.

So I am comfortable using a market risk premium estimate over the whole business cycle, taking into account that it may change.  In fact, it probably does change at different stages in the business cycle.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the risk-free rate, the time value of money, is driven by -- in part, by inflation and in part by what investors want to be paid to park their money somewhere without risk, right?

DR. BOOTH:  The easy answer is it's driven by supply and demand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  I am trying to get the mechanics here, rather than the philosophy.  Because what I am trying to understand is if the Bank of Canada manages inflation to a very tight band, then shouldn't that, by definition, mean that the risk-free rate is, with a few blips here and there, also within a very narrow range?

DR. BOOTH:  That is what we're talking about, the few blips here and there.  That's the business cycle.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay, but if you are making a long-term investment, the blips aren't going to be what concerns you, are they?

DR. BOOTH:  True, but the fact is people don't realize they're blips at the time.  We can look back now and say, Well, the fall of last year was a blip.  But, I mean, how many people actually bought Citibank when it was 97 cents, or how many people bought CIBC when it was $35?

I mean, the fact is at that point people looked at it and they didn't say, Well, this is a blip.  They looked at it and said, Wow, the economy and the financial market are in disaster, meltdown mode.

So looking back, we can always look at these things and say they're blips, but once you are in the middle of that, it doesn't appear to be a blip.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here is what I am driving at.  If in fact there are some stable, underlying forces at work in what we're talking about, does it make sense for the Board to -- rather than try to keep adjusting the ROE every year, as long as we have a stable inflation environment, does it make sense for the Board to simply set a stable ROE and say, This is what it's going to be?

DR. BOOTH:  I have no problem with that.  The ROE adjustment mechanisms were brought in place, as I said, when we had very high long-term Canada bond yields, because we had significant inflation and there were significant risks in the economy.

What has happened is the decline in inflation and the improvement in government finances has caused those rates to come down, and I think the BCUC and National Energy Board have proved remarkably full-sighted in coming up with the 75 percent adjustment mechanism.

When you look at what has happened to the real yield and when you look at what has happened to government finances, I think it has been remarkably accurate.  So right now, do we still need this?  Probably, no, because we have reached a situation where the Bank of Canada has got credibility.  Long Canada bond yields aren't going to fluctuate very much, and the fact is we have been in a sort of 8 to 9 percent ROE mode for the last several years.

I would anticipate that we're going to continue to be in that for the foreseeable future, unless something cataclysmic happens in terms of monetary policy and everything else.  So I would be perfectly comfortable fixing the ROE at, say, 8.5 or 8.75 over the business cycle for, say, a five-year period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Lisa, did you have some more questions?

MS. BRICKENDEN:  That was a really good segue, Jay, because I have a CAPM question.  I would like to move away from macroeconomic discussions and maybe get to the model.

On page 18 of your material, you have noted that CAPM does overestimate for high risk or beta grade to the one and underestimate returns for low risk stocks where the beta is less than one.

My question is:  To help the Board understand the use of this, how do you estimate the overestimate or underestimate?  So we are acknowledging this exists, but how do we measure that?

DR. BOOTH:  We acknowledged that it exists in the asset pricing tests in the '60s and '70s, where the use of the risk-free rate, the 30-day return on the 90-day treasury bill yield -- so everything was based upon looking at monthly data trying to predict monthly rates of return.

They never adjusted betas.  They just used the actual betas, and betas reflect what's happened over the previous time period.  If nothing has happened over that time period, you get different beta estimates if something substantial happens.

So these tests are reliant upon a huge amount of data mining and manipulation, if you will, on the law of large numbers, and the CAPM overpredicts, as you indicated, for high risk stocks and underpredicts for low risk stocks, as long as you don't adjust betas, you just use the actual betas, and use the 30-day yield on the treasury bill.

So right now, does that make sense?  Yes.  If I use the 30-day yield on the treasury bill, 25 basis points, and I add the market risk premium and I use the actual beta for utilities, you'd probably get a CAPM estimated rate of return of 5 percent, which would severely underestimate the fair rate of return for a utility.

So you have to remember this is the way that people test asset pricing models based upon 30-day holding periods.  It is not the way we use asset pricing models like the CAPM in regulatory hearings.

We use the long-term Canada yield, because it is much more stable and it reflects long-term expectations, rather than looking at a 30-day rate of return.  No utility, as far as I am aware, is regulated on a 30-day forward test year.  If it was, then that critique would be appropriate.

MS. BRICKENDEN:  So what you are saying is the over-estimation/under-estimation issue, while we acknowledge it, you don't believe it is an issue?

DR. BOOTH:  It's not an issue if you use the long Canada bond yield, because right now long Canada bond yield, I am using 4.5 percent.  The T-bill yield is 26 basis points.  So there is a difference of 4.25 percent, and I am adding on top of what would be a classic asset pricing test of the CAPM.

So I have already bumped up my estimates, 4.25, versus what we generally refer to as the ECAPM, or the empirical capital asset pricing model, plus I am not using the current beta coefficient.

The utilities right now, when the data comes out for 2009, their betas are going to be very low, and they're going to be very low because the stock markets crashed and recovered and utility stocks have barely moved.  So the result is going to be low beta coefficients, because it picked up the fact that utilities are defensive stocks.

And, as a result, you are now going to get low beta coefficients coming out, because they're picking up what has actually happened over the last year.  Whereas the betas, up until a year or so ago, were a lot higher because basically we hadn't had a stock market crash, and we had a normal sort of stable economy.

MS. BRICKENDEN:  Thank you, Laurence.

DR. BOOTH:  I would caution.  People say "normal".  When they refer to "normal", generally they mean a really strong economy with low risk and low yields and -- low risks, spreads and everything else.

And when things are bad, they sort of say, Well, we will wait until we get back to normal.  What we're in now is completely normal.  This happens periodically.  We may not like it, but it is just part of the business cycle.

MS. BRICKENDEN:  May I ask just a second question, an unrelated question?

I noted, when you were speaking earlier this morning, you indicated that it is not the allowed returns that we should be comparing.  It is the actual returns.

My question is whether you were speaking of accounting returns, or whether you were speaking of other.

DR. BOOTH:  The regulated utilities, the book return, the accounting return, is cash, so -- because they're regulated on a book value basis.  So it is the only sector, as far as I am aware of, where the ROE awarded by the Board is actually a hard, cold cash ROE, because it is what is generated by the utility.

So market-to-book ratios and accounting ROEs are relevant for regulated utilities.

But when we look at utilities, I have yet to find any utility, except Pacific Northern Gas, that doesn't over-earn its allowed rate of return.  Some of them over-earn significantly, either because of incentive regulation or because of the use of weather deferral accounts or the absence of weather deferral accounts.

So when you look at them and you say, Well, look, Canadian utilities are earning less than those in the United States, the allowed rates of return may be lower, but I have not seen evidence produced by -- perhaps Concentric would do this next time around looking -- looking at actual rates of return, because Canadian utilities over-earn consistently.

MS. BRICKENDEN:  Relying on accounting returns, isn't that a similar weakness that others have criticized that the comparable earnings approach takes by relying on what is reporting through regulatory accounting?

DR. BOOTH:  No.  Public utilities, regulated utilities, their profits and their cash and their revenues are determined by the book value rate base and by the ROE that this Board allows them.

When you look at private sector firms, they don't work from the bottom up, which is what we do with utilities.  We determine the net income, and then we go all the way up through the income statement and determine revenues.  Regular firms don't work like that.  They determine revenues, and then it drops through to the bottom line only for regulated utilities, and market-book-ratios and ROEs are a meaningful estimate of what is going on.

Most unregulated firms, the bottom line is the bottom line.  But for regulated utilities, it isn't.  It is the starting point of the revenue requirement.

MS. BRICKENDEN:  Thank you.

DR. BOOTH:  I come back to the Fortis acquisition of TGI.  The Alberta Utilities Commission in 2003 said that we take comfort -- words to this effect, We take comfort from the fact that regulated assets in Canada have been sold at huge premiums over -- they didn't use the word "huge", but have sold at premiums over the book value to indicate that the allowed rate of return is not too low.

So the fact is the book value of the assets determines the profits and determines the revenues.  If you started seeing utility assets in Canada selling for below book value, as they did in the 1960s and 1970s, then it indicates there is a serious problem with allowed rate of return.  But when you see companies selling and buying utility assets with huge premiums to their book value, it's a pretty strong indicator that the allowed rate of return is generous, to say the least.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Dr. Booth.

I think we are now about one hour over our estimated time for finishing this, but are there any other questions?

What I would propose --

MR. PENNY:  I guess on this, just because it came up at the end, I would be interested in the views of -- we know, I guess, clearly what Mr. Booth thinks, that -– at least thinks that actual returns are relevant.

I wonder whether anyone else has a comment on that, from either Concentric or Dawn Carmichael, whether –-whether the actual returns are relevant to the discussion we're having at all.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Michael.

That puts the question out there.  Would anybody like to address it?

MR. COYNE:  I can't tell if this is on or not, the way the sun is hitting the light.  Is it on?

MR. WETSTON:  It's on now.  Just press it again.  Press it and let go.  It was on.  It's not on now.

MR. COYNE:  I think I have it now.

MR. WETSTON:  Just scream.

MR. COYNE:  We have looked at this issue; it is an interesting one.  You know, it's -- two points I would say in response.

One is that regulators can set allowed rates of return, but there are many factors that will influence what the utilities' ultimate earned rate of return is at the end of the day.

The other issue is that in many cases, we're looking at holding companies.  So the earned returns are the returns for the utility, as well as for other subsidiaries, some of which may be regulated and unregulated.

So you have to look at that data with some care.  We looked at that issue.  The last time we tried to examine it was, in fact, for this Board in the 2007 report that we did.  And perhaps this is some of the data that Dr. Booth might have been referring to relating to variability of returns in the US and Canada and earned versus actuals.

And the problem we found -- and this was one of our criticisms of Dr. Safire's evidence introduced in Alberta as well -- is that the earned returns are not consistently reported across all jurisdictions.  I think it would be an interesting study if done well.  I haven't seen it done well.  I don't think we have done it well, and the reason is that the data is just not there to allow you to do so.

But I would say the variability that can be introduced between earned and allowed returns can result from a whole host of factors, weather being one and conservation programs being another.

I think it is something that is important for the Board to monitor.  But I don't know that the data is available right now on a broad enough basis to be instructive, in terms of using it as a regulatory tool.

MR. GARNER:  Don, and then Ian.

MR. CARMICHAEL:  I would like to comment on this comparison of the price paid in terms of an acquisition, relative to the book and premium and so on and so forth.

And just to provide the Board with a little background, I have advised a number of -- advised on a number of utility sales in terms of -- I was -- going way back in time, I was involved with Union Gas when George Mann and Unicor Financial tried to buy them.  And then I was involved with the old Consumers Gas when it was bought by British Gas, and I was also involved with Union Gas when it was sold to Westcoast.

So I have been through the process.  And there are a number of issues, I think, that the Board should consider when you are looking at an acquisition.

The first thing that an acquisition party does, someone looking to buy a business, is obviously if it is a friendly transaction, they go to the company.  They say:  Okay, what is your forecast?  What does your five-year forecast look like?  Then they will extend that forecast for a period of another five years.  So they will feel that they've got reasonable operating data covering a 10-year period.  At the end of the 10-year period, what have they got?  They have pipes in the ground and a franchise that is going to go on.  So they have to value that asset essentially in 10 years' time.

Virtually all of the equity transactions that I have been involved with or M&A transactions with regard to utilities, probably 60, 65 percent of the value of the transaction occurs beyond the 10 years.

In order to form those values people, sit back and they take -- they make a judgment as to the direction of regulatory policy.  They look at it from a relatively big picture.  They don't look at it:  Here's what we're doing today and let's just project that forward.

They're looking at it from a relatively big picture point of view, and from the point of view of the fairness standard; that is, they have trust, given the strength of the regulatory compact that exists in Canada, that the regulators will essentially ensure that reasonable rates of return are allowed for the utility over time.

Now, so they go out.  They use an ATWACC type of formula and they come up with a present -– present value of the utility business.  Sometimes that is at a premium.  Sometimes the buyer wants more.  Sometimes the buyer is running an auction.

So if it were a business like Enbridge or another kind of nameplate, significant franchise, people are induced to pay premiums through the whole process.  I mean normally you go into a sale to maximize the value of the asset.

Now, I found, acting both as an M&A advisor and somebody who sells stock on behalf of the acquiring company, that purchasers are willing to acquire businesses, first of all, if they can fund it with the appropriate amount of common equity, and secondly, if the transaction is accretive with respect to earnings.  That is often their real focus.

So when you put all these factors together, the competition for the asset and the fact that there are very few of these assets available in Canada –- you know, Fortis had an opportunity to buy electricity assets in BC and Alberta.  They thought this was tremendous.  Then they had an opportunity to buy BC Gas or Terasen Gas in BC.  They thought these franchises were significant franchises that they wanted to control, and they were willing to pay something of a premium.

They also assumed fair regulatory treatment over an extended period.  They also used financial mechanisms, which, in effect, reduced their after-tax weighted cost of capital.  The net result was the price that came out at the end that was willing -– that was acceptable to the seller, and then someone later came along and said:  Well, what was that price relative to book?

Often the price-to-book ratios are only put out there so that institutional investors can look at them and say:  Well, somebody did a deal at 1.6 times.  Somebody else did a deal at 1.7 times.  Somebody did a deal at 1.65 times.  So they're all generally in the same area, so they didn't overpay.  And that is the way these deals work.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

DR. BOOTH:  A couple of comments on that, because this is rather important.

First of all, when you look at Fortis, Fortis bought Terasen Gas.  Its consolidated common equity ratio is about 31, 32 percent, which is less than that of its regulated utility.  So there is double leverage going on in the parent company, just as there was double leverage in Westcoast ownership of Union.


And you look at the ROEs earned by Fortis; they're low 8s, 8.1, 8.2 percent, which is less than the BCUC formula ROE.  So Fortis at the parent level has got more debt and lower earned rates of return, and the last BMO analysis I saw of Fortis was June of this year, and they hung a big fat sign in front of it saying "buy".  So when you look at these utilities, we do see double leverage, but you have to think about the most basic thing.

Every dollar that Terasen Gas reinvests of its equity in its rate base is immediately worth a $1.70, which means apart from the fair ROE, they're getting an immediate 70 percent capital gain on that dollar investment.

Now, is that due to strategic or synergistic benefits?  I have yet to actually see somebody work out what all of these benefits are and how they can be captured in a discounted cash flow analysis.  They exist.  They may be 0.1 of the 70 percent premium, so it should really be 1.6 or perhaps 1.5.

What I do is I take these market-to-books as strongly indicating that, first of all, the allowed rates of return are not too low.  If they were too low, then you would be seeing these stocks selling at less than book value and you would be seeing transactions at less than book value.

I wouldn't use them to determine the fair rate of return, but somebody has to convince me why somebody would pay $1.70 for a dollar of book equity.  Basically, that 70 cents doesn't earn one penny, and every single dollar that TGI invests in its equity in its rate base Fortis values at $1.70.


So that tells me the fair ROE in BC, certainly Fortis figures that it is fair, even if they come before the BCUC and say it is not fair.  So you have to look at what the capital markets are doing in valuing these.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I think -- any questions?  Ian, you have the last word.

MR. MONDROW:  I have a quick one, hopefully.

Mr. Coyne, on this issue of -- in response to Mr. Penny's question, I heard you kind of say that would be useful information to get actual returns, but they're very difficult.  You have tried and you have been unable.

I just want to try to understand that a bit, to the extent it would be useful information, because you took us earlier to your appendix D in your written report where you had the table.  Table 1 was the electrics and table 2 was the gas, and you had the Canadian and US utilities.

You have applied screens, as I understand it, to identify a comparator group you think is a valid comparator group.  What would be the difficulty in trying to get the actual return information at least for that subset or that comparator group?

MR. COYNE:  It varies utility to utility and commission to commission.  There are some commissions that require annual submissions by utilities to report their earned ROE.  And often times, those are utilities that have earnings sharing mechanisms, so it has direct bearing on ratemaking.

And in other cases, it is reported in the US in what's called FERC form 1 or FERC form 2.  We have investigated the reporting of that data versus what we find -- what we find in commission reports, and there are accounting differences between the two that we have not been able to reconcile.

So it is just a question of the ability -- it almost requires I think a hearing like this where the commission has full access to all records, that you can obtain that data on a reliable basis.  I haven't given up.

MR. MONDROW:  Good.

MR. COYNE:  It is an issue that I continue to want to explore.

As we look at Canadian versus US utilities, it is an area of research we continue to be interested in, and I don't think we have said the last word on it.

But in terms of what it would tell you, from a regulatory standpoint, it would tell me about the provisions I have in place that allow that utility to earn its allowed return, and I would like to understand what impacts these other factors are having on their ability to earn that allowed return.

As a regulator, I would want to have in place incentives for a utility to continue to exceed its earned return.  That is the very premise of regulatory -- incentive regulation that we see both in the US and Canada, is to set bars for utilities that are high enough for them so that they can create operational gains both to the benefit of shareholders, as well as to ratepayers.

So for those reasons, I would like to understand those trends and how well the incentives put in place are actually working, and, again, to the benefit of both shareholders, as well as ratepayers.

So I think, in that sense, it is instructive to have the data, but I think one needs to look to make sure that one has a reasonable data set before one begins to draw broad conclusions from it.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MR. COYNE:  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Just one more question.

DR. GASKE:  This is Steve Gaske.  Going to your question about comparable earnings and book returns, one of the points that I have made earlier in this proceeding is that when companies decide where they're going to build, whether they're going to put pipe in the ground in a particular jurisdiction or whether they're going to string lines in another jurisdiction, or whether they're just simply going to pay out their earnings as dividends, they look at the expected book earnings that they are going to get.

They look at that compared to the cost of capital.  And, in general, they don't invest if they expect to only earn their cost of capital.  The exception to that if there is some strategic reason or if the companies have an obligation to serve, in which case they will put money in only at the cost of capital when maybe they have investment opportunities elsewhere.

But, for the most part, normal investment management, normal financial management, looks very closely at the returns that you expect to earn, actually, on the assets, not necessarily on the stock in the market.

So it becomes a very, very important question:  What kinds of returns are available on assets when companies decide, where do they want to be?

Sometimes they will buy another company in another jurisdiction simply because, in the long run, in the future, they can invest a dollar in that jurisdiction and expect to earn a better return as the company grows and goes through a normal maturation process.

So, hopefully, that is responsive to -- or at least in part, to the question about:  How important is it to look at the returns that a company actually earns?

DR. BOOTH:  That is a very important point.  The only person that can build assets in the lower mainland in natural gas distribution is Terasen Gas, because it has a franchise, and the only way that you can get the BCUC allowed rate of return on Terasen Gas's gas distribution assets is Terasen Gas or you buy Terasen Gas.

The fact that somebody pays a premium to buy to get to those rates of return indicates what opportunity cost is.  The rate of return that a regulated utility earns or comparable earnings is not an opportunity cost, because you cannot invest at those rates of return unless you are that utility or unless you are that private company.

Everyone else has to buy the shares.  They have to pay market price, which is why comparable earnings, most economists don't accept it as any estimate of opportunity cost and why it has fallen out of favour in Canada.

In fact, it hasn't been used for at least ten years in Canada and, my understanding, it hasn't been used for even longer in the United States.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Dr. Booth.

I am going to ask us to break for lunch and give it one hour.  So, actually, what I will suggest is we reconvene at 1:45 by that clock, and that would be one hour.

We will start with Dr. Schwartz, and I think we should be able -- we only have one speaker after that, and I understand that is going to be very short.  So I expect that we should be finishing around the same time that we have estimated in the schedule.

We will be handing out the Matthew Akman article.

Thank you, everybody.  See you at 1:45.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:38 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 1:46 p.m.

MR. GARNER:  So we are, by the clock, at 1:45, which was the agreed time to reconvene.  So if I could ask everybody to take their seats and we will -– we'll start.

So this afternoon, we have Dr. Lawrence Schwartz -- and Larry, I think people call you?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  And Larry, so we will let you start.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I will introduce myself.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you very much.
Presentation by Dr. Lawrence P. Schwartz:


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you very much.

First of all, I would like to thank the Board Chair and the Members for this opportunity to put some ideas forward that may move things forward.

I think the presentations thus far and the submissions have been very high in quality, and I am not going to make any particular criticism of them.  Although I must say I am still not sure whether the Board formula is right or wrong and that kind of motivates my –- my presentation.  How would we know, in fact?

And so my presentation, for the most part, follows on the comments raised at the very end of this morning's final presentation by Dr. Booth about actual returns versus book returns and such.

By way of background, Energy Probe Research Foundation asked me to help them with their submission, their responses to the questions on the issues list, and they have also invited me to make a presentation.

My own background is in -- as a consultant in economics and finance for 15 years.  I was a member of the federal competition tribunal from '98 to 2003.  And my earlier experience was in banking and securities.

I lecture in finance at the Schulich School of Business.

So my topic today is the fair return standard and the market-to-book controversy.

So why is there a problem is the first issue I am going to tackle.  I will try to suggest the opposing positions, and then answer the final question:  Is there a role or what significance should be accorded to the market-to-book ratio?

And I have used the word "controversy".  Maybe "debate" is better, or "difference of opinion" than "controversy".

Anyway, let me illustrate the basic problem by a very simple and idealized situation.  We will imagine that a conventional utility is entirely equity-financed with traded shares, and that it is in some sort of business equilibrium.  It is not growing; it doesn't have to.  And so that the depreciation allowances are sufficient to maintain the book value of the rate base at its original cost, and so all earnings are distributed as dividends.

And that is the kind of simplest environment I can think of in which to discuss these issues.

So let's imagine that the book value rate base is $100 a share, that the utility is currently earning $16 a share, and that the current share price is $200.

Now, they come to a rate hearing.  The investors' required rate of return "R" is easy to identify in this simple situation, because it is simply the ratio of earnings to price, which is equal in this case to the dividends yield.  So it is 8 percent.

So the regulator may say:  All right, we will take that 8 percent and apply it to the rate base for next year's earnings per share and we come up with $8.

And at that revised price -- I call it "P0" here -- we see that the share price is now worth $100 rather than the $200 that we started with, because the market has capitalized the earnings per share at the investors' of 16 -- of $8, rather, at -- no.  At eight percent, the $100 times 8 percent gives you $8 a share, next year's and future earnings.

So this problem is actually very, very well recognized in utility literature and in finance.  People hold that it is illogical, and this has been the criticism of this kind of ratemaking for decades.  Why would a shareholder accept this kind of regime where they have the share, it is worth $200 on the market and the regulator applies the required rate of return?  And all of a sudden the stock price falls dramatically.  It has been held that any investor who participates in this kind of regime is acting illogically and perhaps schizophrenically, subjecting himself or herself to a capital loss.

I skipped a page.

What are the consequences?  Well, here, as again shown on the screen, we have an initial market-to-book ratio of two, and after the decision, it drops to one.

And so without going into the details, if we apply the market-based investors' return, it is the investors ROE-to-book value of rate base when the initial market-to-book ratio is greater than one.  The earnings are reduced, the share price is reduced, and the market value of the share is driven down to the book value, as long as the investors view the regulator's decision as permanent.

So we can say that the utility's market value equals its book value when the regulator allows an ROE equal to the investors' required return, and that is what I would like to show on this chart.

Perhaps it is not so entirely clear.  On the bottom axis are different multiples of market-to-book as they stand prior to a decision.  And the blue line, the solid flat blue line, is the $200 market price that I have mentioned in my hypothetical.

Now, in my hypothetical, the initial market-to-book ratio was two, and so by following the red or orange curve from the bottom of the chart where the initial market-to-book value is to -- up to the curve, you'll see that the post-decision market price is $100, and that you can see that, from the chart, that the same decline would happen any time the initial market-to-book ratio is greater than one.

And this is what I think highlights people -- encourages people to think the whole process is illogical and the investors must be schizophrenic, because of the capital losses involved by the regulators doing what conventional thinking requires them to do.

On the other hand, if you look to the base of the chart where the market-to-book ratio is one and you work your way up to the blue line again, you will see that there is no price decline when the regulator does -- applies the investors' return to the rate base.  And if you go even further to the left, where the rate base is actually greater than the -- the rate base per share is actually greater than the market price per share, the impact of the regulator's decision is to raise the stock price.

So that is all very standard.  I can show you the numbers.  There is no magic involved in any of this.

So I am not sure people who say this process is irrational or illogical are necessarily thinking of this latter case, where the market price is below book value to begin with.

But it does show that there is something to be said for regulators acting in such a way as to maintain the market-to-book ratio at one, because there are no capital gains or losses consequent to the regulator's decision.

And that will, I guess, be a capsule of what my conclusion is.

So what are the problems of this traditional ratemaking approach for the fair return standard?  I mean, one is:  Is it fair to investors that the regulator's decision reduces the value of their shares?

Certainly, if what regulators did was apply the investors' return not to the rate base value but to the market value, then they would be fine.  There would be no capital loss incurred, and they would say that that was fair.  So if we sustained, by regulatory decision, the initial market-to-book ratio of "2", in my hypothetical, then shareholders would say that that was fair.

And, indeed, it is fair to those shareholders.  The ultimate problem in this arrangement is:  Which shareholders are we talking about?

And perhaps I will come back to that a bit later on, or in discussion.  One thing we know is that -- well, what we can ask is:  Is it the regulator's job to ensure that investors do not incur capital losses, or, the opposite, or capital gains when the share price is less than book value?

One thing we know for sure is that capital attraction and commensurate return principles will be met as long as the regulators allow "R" in my hypothetical 8 percent.  So whether that "R" is allowed on the rate base per share of $100 per share or on the market value of $200 per share, there won't be any issue, because new investors will know that they're going to get their required rate of return.

So -- and that answers my last question:  Can the utility attract new equity if investors believe the regulators will reduce allowed returns - well, this is somewhat of a variant, but when the market value rises above the book value of their investment?

As I said, perhaps there might be further discussion along these lines.

In response to all of these somewhat conceptual issues, there is now or has been debate about the significance of the market-to-book ratio and what regulators should do with it.  One of the leading commentators in the field of regulatory finance is Professor Roger Morin, who, in his very recent book, has said the following -- I will read it.  As he introduces his book, he says:
"Section 12.5 critically evaluates the role of the market-to-book ratio in regulation and concludes that regulators should largely remain unconcerned with such ratios, because they are determined by exogenous market forces and are outside the direct control of regulators.  Market-to-book ratios are largely the end result of the regulatory process itself, rather than its starting point."

Now, I put in Roger's book from Public Utilities Reports, which is a well-known publisher of public utility materials, and his book is recent, 2006, and you can get it in the library here, which is where I got it.

Now, I am not introducing Professor Morin's conclusion in order to criticize him.  I am not.  If you read his entire chapter, he offers other ways of dealing with the problem.  But, conceptually, he says -- you know, he seems not to be concerned that the market-to-book ratio could be very high if the regulators do what they do.

If it was two or three or four, in principle, he's saying he's not concerned about it or doesn't see anything wrong, partly because, he says, that setting the market-to-book -- the ROE, the allowed ROE, in relation to market-to-book, he calls that misguided, because it implies that investors are irrational.

So he buys -- he accepts the same logic that I produced for you a few minutes ago.

Now, he has other concerns which are not so easily dismissed, very practical issues which I accept.  In any case, as I said, I am not here to criticize Professor Morin, but just to indicate there is a debate, a discussion, about these matters and what regulators should do.

The perspective I take is based largely on my experience in finance.  As I mentioned, earlier in my career I was involved with bringing out new issues, and so I take what I call the finance theory perspective to this question.

And to put it in context, let's think again of a company, an industrial, an unregulated industrial issuer who wants to bring out preferred shares.  This is a garden variety preferred share.  It has a face value, as all preferred shares do.  Let's assume it is $25 per share, and the investors' required rate of return on the preferred is, again, 8 percent, by hypothesis, the going rate on a sample of preferreds, of similar preferreds.

So if the issuer, the industrial issuer, sets a $2 coupon, the market will capitalize the expected dividend stream.  Two dollars divided by the required rate of return of 8 percent gives us $25, and the issuer will receive proceeds equal to the face value of the share, all right, minus an underwriting discount.

But that is pretty much the story on how preferred shares get issued.

We could think about this in terms of capital attraction for the preferred share for that issuer.

Let us imagine that instead of setting a coupon rate of $2, it is the issuer, on the advice of the underwriter, that set the coupon rate at $2.50 per share, giving a return of 10 percent, which exceeds, by hypothesis, the required return of preferred share investors.

This will result in the preferred share market value of $31.25, which exceeds the face value.  Nevertheless the issuer in this hypothetical only receives $25.  The issue is -- what they say in the finance business, is being oversold, and there is an immediate capital gain to those people who are allowed to get in early and buy the share at $25.

From my days as an underwriter, I can tell you that issuers don't like this environment at all, this outcome, because what it means is that they have simply price the coupon too high.  They're paying too much.  If the price immediately after issuing rises, it indicates that the coupon rate was above the investors' required return.

So they're very competent -- sorry, they're very concerned that underwriters do not overprice the preferred share issue.

The other extreme, I guess, is when the coupon is set at $1.50 per share, which implies a 6 percent yield, less than the 8 percent required by preferred share investors.  In this case, the preferred share market value is $18.75, which is less than the face value, and the issuer gets nothing, because nobody is going to buy those preferred shares at a 6 percent yield when the required return is 8 percent.

So we can see that the general rule for capital attraction and the preferred share is to set the coupon rate equal to the required rate of return of preferred share investors, and that has the result that the preferred share market value will be exactly equal to its face value.

So I want to make the analogy between that and the principle of -- draw the analogy between that and the principle of capital attraction for a regulated utility.  We should set -- the regulators should set the rate of return on equity equal to the required return of equity investors, and this will result, if everything is done properly, in an equity market-to-book ratio equal to "1".

Suppose, contrarily, that the utility earnings allowed exceeded -- no, that the earnings -- the earnings exceeded the allowed return on equity.  That would indicate that the stockholders are receiving more than their required return and the equity mark to mark -- equity market-to-book ratio would be greater than "1" in the secondary market.

So how do all of these things relate?  Well, there is this formula that you won't find too challenging.  It says that the market-to-book ratio is equal to the allowed earnings divided by the investors' return, all of which divided by book value, and we are going to say that that ratio is equal to K.

From this, it follows that the allowed earnings per share should be some number K times the return on book.

So what is K?  Well, K is what the regulators are setting in their decisions implicitly.

So, for example, if regulators set K equal to 1, they're saying that the allowed earnings per share will be equal to the investors' required return times the book value, and if K is equal to 1, the ratio of market to book will also be equal to 1.

Now, what then are the factors that produce or that could produce high ratios, market-to-book ratios, or, more broadly, why do utility prices go up above their -- the book value, the rate base?

And one of which is there are clearly in the course of a given year or test period, perhaps, transitory earnings changes that make the utility's share go up.  Perhaps one of them is weather.  I mean, clearly if the winter is colder than investors expected, the utility will -- stock price is likely to rise.  People will want to buy it.  They will see it as a good buy.

But I have called those kinds -– and of course regulators have a way of dealing with these questions.  They have deferral accounts and things like that.

So that you wouldn't expect that these kinds of transitory impacts on stock price would be anything more than transitory.  I mean, if they think the coming heating –- cooling -- winter season is going to be colder than average, the stock price will go up for a while, but if they think that that is not going to continue and that the next year may not be the same, you would expect at some point that the stock price would come back.

So if we saw utilities' stock price above book value and we attributed it to transitory effects, we wouldn't necessarily want to do anything about it.

But there could be permanent earnings changes that will be capitalized, and could lead to higher ratios.  And one of those things is that the regulator allows returns greater than the investors' required returns.

This would, once investors accepted these things as permanent, generate a higher stock price that would not come down, would not be transitory.  And so going back to my earlier hypothetical, where I started off with the stock price of $200 per share versus a rate base of only $100 per share, maybe the reason for that was that regulators had allowed in the past an allowed return greater than what investors had required.

So what are the concerns for regulators?  And then I will try to bring it back to the central issue here that was raised at the end of this morning's conversation.

Well, first of all, we have to measure the rate base accurately.  This is going to be a problem -– well, it will be a problem for people in the public.  It won't be a problem for regulators -- as to how, in the case of a holding company, we segregate -- how the market can segregate out utility earnings from non-utility earnings in a holding company environment.

There are differences between GAAP, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, that may apply to a holding company and the way regulators define the rate base, and then there are, I think –- and I think it is less important --jurisdictional differences in rate base accounting.

So we might conclude that industrials, the market-to-book ratio of conventional unregulated companies on the stock exchange, are not really comparable to a utility market-to-book ratio.  I have seen estimates, for example, for the TSE index that market-to-book is somewhere between 1.6 and 2.1.

Well, if the regulator were to apply the TSE index ratio of two times book, in allowing -- in setting its allowed rate of return, it would therefore be allowing twice the level of earnings needed to provide investors with their minimally required rate of return.

So perhaps if someone says the regulators should allow a certain return because industrial companies have market-to-book ratios of 1.6, 2.1, the regulators can be sure that by doing that, it is very likely they're allowing more than the minimum required rate of return by utility equity investors.

Another problem that is also raised conventionally in understanding of rate bases is –- is the problem of inflation, and I put it here in brackets with a question mark, not because it isn't a problem.  It is a problem, but we have ways of doing things.

The investors' required rate of return that I have been speaking about is a nominal return; 8 percent, for example.  And that includes expected inflation.  People will invest in a utility stock; part of their required return will be compensation for expected inflation.

So what we want to ensure is that we compensate -- what regulators want to do is ensure that investors are compensated for inflation when it is higher than expected, and that means we have to give them more the next time they come for a rate hearing, at the next rate hearing.  But correspondingly, if experienced inflation should turn out to be less than the expected rate, then regulators have to reduce the rate of return.

And so what about innovation and increased efficiency, because it is very clear that nothing I have said really -- I mean that has to be a concern for regulators.  It is not so much a concern -- I mean it is a concern for regulation generally, because what incentive under traditional ratemaking does a utility have for becoming more efficient and trying to raise the stock price above book value?

And the answer is:  If they lower their prices, lower their costs by becoming more efficient, they're not going to be rewarded for it unless we move to some sort of incentive regime which recognizes that.

So where do I come out?  The market-to-book ratio of 1:1 deserves attention.  It means that the investors -- that is if we had a regulated utility with listed stock, a standalone utility, and if its price were such that the market to book ratio was 1:1, that would imply that the investors were -- received and were continuing to get their required rate of return.

It promotes capital attraction, a 1:1 ratio, as well as commensurate earnings.  It will give investors their required return, although finally one has to accept that regulators are no more perfect at these things than anybody else, like me.  I mean I don't exactly know that I should say regulators should hold tight to a 1:1 ratio when they set their earnings, but something in the range of maybe 5 percent to 10 percent over would allow a small premium, because capital attraction is perhaps more important, maybe the most important consideration.

And so it doesn't seem to be necessarily unfair to new investors that they have to pay a bit more to get in.

So this is ultimately, I guess, my final suggestion, recommendation, as far as the Board's formula is concerned.  I mean does it produce market-to -- or would it produce market-to-book ratios somewhere in the area of 1:1, maybe 1.1:1?

That would meet the relevant standards.  I don't think anybody would criticize the Board for being too generous to the investors in that framework.

And of course, the problem is holding companies and the inability to separate these two.  If we have a holding company with a traded share and one of the subsidiaries is a regulated utility, the regulator has to somehow determine how much of the holding company price is attributable to the utility.

Now, that seems like an impossibility, but it is not.  It is, in fact, the very bread and butter of what it is financial analysts do.

So I am not saying the Board would have to be perfect in this, but if they do it and try to separate out how much of a holding company stock's price is due to regulated earnings and how much to non-regulated earnings, that is a very standard problem in financial analysis.  And I believe it could be done, at least to the Board's satisfaction.

Thank you very much.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Larry.

All right.  We will open the floor up.  Do we have questions?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Can I go?

MR. GARNER:  Not yet quite. Anybody have any questions before we go on?  Oh, Karen.  Not so fast.
Q&A Session:


MS. TAYLOR:  Larry, with respect to the market-to-book, we have seen maybe since mid-1995 an evolution in the Canadian utility space where there has been a lot of acquisitions, a trend toward separately traded utilities like Enbridge Gas Distribution towards the utility holdco model.

If you can stretch your memory back to 1995, at that time, when we went to the automatic adjustment mechanisms, were any of the publicly traded pure utilities in the Canadian market actually trading at a 1:1 price-to-book value?

MR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, thank you.  I don't know, but I doubt it.

MS. TAYLOR:  So just to follow along, I think Dr. Booth this morning mentioned Pacific Northern Gas, and I would venture to say that they do trade relatively close to book value and have traded -- I suppose we could confirm that somehow.  But he also mentioned that there were asset impairment issues.

So I guess what we're trying to say or I am trying to ask you is:  How do we know that the ROE -- if they have never traded at price to book, what does that mean for the ROE that has been set, and what does it mean for where it will be set, based on the change in the price-to-book value?

As opposed to a fixed ratio, if you could say over that 15- or 20-year period that the multiple to book hasn't changed, is there any information in the change in book value or is it just straight 1:1 that we are trying to get to, if we have never been there before?

MR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you for the question.

I am not sure how to answer it.  The exercise would be -- I mean, I don't -- if you have a holding company environment, to try to allocate the stock price in some way to the utility and see whether that produces what the market-to-book ratio would be.

If it is 1-1/2:1, or 2:1, or less than one, then something in the rate-setting process is inadequate.

MS. TAYLOR:  Well, maybe we could just come back to what Dr. Booth said this morning about the price to book ostensibly paid by Fortis for Terasen, and then I think Mr. Carmichael's comment about how that acquisition would have unfolded, which was a cash flow NPV number.

So can you reconcile how there is any information in the price-to-book multiple, when the acquisition price would have been based off of a forward-looking concept, based on the cash flow discounted back at some cost of capital?

MR. SCHWARTZ:  All right.  I haven't studied Professor Booth's presentation, but, to me, from what I heard, he was saying this:  Why would someone pay a multiple of 1.7 times book value if, at fairness, you only need a 1:1 ratio?  I mean, I think that is his question.

So there could be reasons for it.  There may be synergies between the utility and the non-utility operations.  I don't rule that out.  I don't know what they are.  I mean, I...

And he was implying, I think -- I won't say that.  I don't want to put words in his mouth.  I mean, it is just a question.  Since the people who made that acquisition aren't -- I mean, they saw the value in the proposition somewhere, so, I mean -- and, as I have suggested, one reason might be that you are going to get beyond the minimum required rate of return from the regulator.

MS. TAYLOR:  So just -- I apologize I missed it, but what part of your presentation said that fairness was 1.1?

MR. SCHWARTZ:  Up to, say, 1.1.  Well, I mean, strictly speaking you would say, I would say, the ratio should be 1:1 market to book.

But we can't predict these things perfectly, and we should worry more about failing the capital attraction standard.  So if 1:1 means that, in principle, equity investors are getting precisely their required rate of return, but maybe there's some doubt about it, we should err to the high side, maybe give them 5 or 10 percent more, than risk under awarding and not -- and finding their capital attraction, then being unable to attract capital.  That's my view.

MR. WETSTON:  Let me ask a question that nobody can answer.

MR. SCHWARTZ:  I love those questions.

MR. WETSTON:  Just a thought.  So the Terasen deal is in 2007.  Probably a little bit of a liquidity bubble around that time; would you agree with me?  Agree with me, anyway.

MR. SCHWARTZ:  All right.

[Laughter]

MR. WETSTON:  The credit crisis following in that period; we are just coming through it.  You probably agree with me on that point.

MR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes.

MR. WETSTON:  So I would like you to speculate.  So Fortis, all of the facts, they want to buy Terasen and it is today.  What would the premium be today?

MR. SCHWARTZ:  What premium would they offer to acquire the utility?

MR. WETSTON:  So I am going to ask you:  The 1.7 to 1, what would they offer today?  Same thing?  And, by the way, I am just asking you.  It is a question no one can answer.  If anybody else in this room might try to offer an answer to that question, I would be happy to hear it.

MR. SCHWARTZ:  All right.  If they offered -- I think Professor Booth said it is 1.7 times book value.  To me that's a very healthy -- and if they got it, that would be -- you know, I mean, they must have been expecting to earn more than that.

So if 1:1 gives equity investors their minimum required rate of return, yeah, I mean, if I were them, I would offer the same today, if they thought it was valuable then, and they might offer the same today.

MR. WETSTON:  Any other takers?

MR. COYNE:  Without speculating what was behind their initial offer, I think it is clear that everything in the market sells for less today than it did in 2007.  So we know directionally it would be less.  I don't think it would be one-for-one, though.

It would be a very unusual event for a utility or, for that matter, any set of mature assets, to sell at a 1:1 for book-to- market ratio.

That is because there is a very practical reason for that, and that is when you think about what book value is, either for a utility or for a set of -- a house or any other sort of set of real assets that deliver services, over time the value of the services they deliver is influenced by inflation, and, therefore, the market value of replacing those assets over time.

So if one were to try to replace a utility's assets, the pipe in the ground, the electric distribution infrastructure, they would have to take into account what it would cost to replace those assets today, and it would be a very unlikely event that the book value would reflect the replacement cost of those assets.

A nominal indicator of the market value should at least be the replacement cost.  Whether or not there is any franchise value above and beyond that is another question.

But for those practical reasons, it would be very unusual for the market value of a set of utility assets to be equal to 1:1.  It always has to be greater.

If you think about what book value is, it is the initial investment value less depreciation.  And depreciation is just some very crude accounting device designed to suggest at what value that asset is diminishing over time.

It would be a very unlikely event that that depreciation measure would actually match what is going on in terms of the market's view of those assets.

So it would be a very awkward tool and crude tool, I would argue, for a regulator to try to attract -- to track the market in that regard.

If it were true that the market-to-book value reflects the investors' required return, would it also be true, then, that the TSX value today of 1.6:2 suggests that investors are over-earning their required return because of where the TSX trades?  Would that same logic not follow?

MR. SCHWARTZ:  I am trying to distinguish -- first of all, I have heard the TSE doesn't produce a price-to-book ratio, but I have understood that hearings here have accepted evidence of that type, and I am trying to suggest that there are differences.

I mean, the point of running an industrial company is to get your price above -- stock price above book value.  If you are running a utility, the point is to run it so it earns, from a regulatory point of view, investors' required rate of return.

And if the regulators allow that, then the price should be fairly stable.

Now, you mentioned inflation, and I believe regulators account for inflation in doing these things.

My conception and my hypothetical was what it was.  It was a static, no-growth environment.  But growth, per se, doesn't change it.  I mean, if the company is adding to the rate base so that the rate base is growing, yes, you would expect the stock price also to grow.

So growth, per se, doesn't change the point I was making, and as long as regulators allow for inflation, then I don't see any reason why the stock price should be much more than book.

MR. COYNE:  With respect, on that issue, it is not typical for regulators to allow inflation in rate base.  It is the book value at the time of investment less depreciation.

There is only one jurisdiction I am aware of that tries to do that, and that is Indiana, where they do make an adjustment between the market value of the assets today versus book.  But they make an adjustment to ROE when they do so, so the net effect is you are still earning a return on book value.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, I don't know about the States.  My impression here is that a lot of time is spent with dividend discount models, capital asset pricing models, the equity risk premium, to try to figure out what the investors' required return is.


MR. COYNE:  We -- if one were to look at the market value of Canada's electric utility holding companies today, there are six, and if one were to take their market values today and to reduce them to 1:1, it would result in an effective ROE -- if one were to take the formula result of 8.01 and to back-solve for what ROE would be required so that the market value would be equal to 1:1, the ROE would be 4.97 percent.


So I think that is arguably well below even the cost of debt for a utility, let alone any suggested reasonable range for cost of equity.


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, can you tell me why the price is that high to begin with?  I mean that was the point I was making with my hypothetical, where the stock price of the utility starts off at $200 per share, but the equity price, the book value price is only $100.


So how did it get to be twice book?  I mean that is the question one should ask about my hypothetical, and I think it should also be asked about your point.

I mean, what is it that happened that allowed the stock price to get so high?  Now, some people will say the stock price is meaningless.  It has no bearing on anything.  It's just a random -- my finance background prevents me from endorsing that position, but -- and I think yours too.  Sorry, I am just looking for what I said.  Sorry.

In this very -- no.  I mean –- yeah, I mean –- sorry, I want to collect my thoughts.

If regulators allow a rate of return equal to the investors' required rate of return and they apply it to the rate base per share, the stock price will come down such that the market price to book value is one, the rate will be one.


Now, why shouldn't regulators do that?  Well, one reason is it is really bad for existing shareholders.  In the example I have got up on the board, they could avoid this problem, the so-called irrationality, by taking the investors' required rate of return of 8 percent and calculating it not on the rate base per share, but on the market value per share.  Then there won't be any capital loss.  Everybody will be happy, at least all of the existing shareholders will be happy.


The new investors won't be so happy, because then they're going to have to pay $200 a share and fund the capital gain of the old –- of the existing investors.

So what is going on in this scenario?  I mean people talk about dilution.  I think it is not dilution.  I think it is a conflict between the existing investors and the new investors.  And it is really a question of the redistribution of wealth, and I ask myself what that has to do with utility regulation.

MR. COYNE:  Well, I think an Ontario regulator, even if one were to agree with this proposition, would be faced with a very difficult task, because there aren't market values for, by and large, for Ontario's utilities.

MR. SCHWARTZ:  I agree with that, and that's why I say it's not going to be perfect, but financial analysts do these kind of exercises routinely.  I don't see why they couldn't do it with respect to utility holding companies.

MR. GARNER:  Jay, you are trying to get a question in?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  My question is actually for Mr. Coyne, I guess.


I understand the concept of replacement value and the fact that book value isn't really the fair market value.  I get all of that stuff.  But it seems fairly simple to me that if a utility has a book value of $100 million and I am willing to go buy it for $200 million and I already know that their allowed earnings are $8 million year, I am willing it take four percent on my money.

So the only way I do that is if, either, A, 4 percent is good enough for me, or B, I think I can increase those earnings over time.


But the replacement value doesn't factor into that, because I don't care are what the replacement value is.  I only care what my return is on my money.


Isn't that right?  I mean I am being simplistic, but isn't that generally true?


MR. COYNE:  It is true that the new investor, the acquirer in this case, would have expectations, at least initially, of earning an earned return on the book value that they're acquiring.  And if they are paying more than book value on that asset, then they would have expectations of their earnings improving over time or there is some strategic fit with their portfolio of investments.

And we see this all the time.  They may be right about extracting those earnings or they may be wrong.  You know, that is where they're rolling the dice and putting their equity at risk, per se.

And when it comes to selling utilities, you know, there are times -- and 2007 was probably that type of market -- where acquirers will line up and with their visions of what the market will look like, as Don suggested earlier, over the next 20 to 30 years.  And their expected cash flow model will be projected out over 20-, 30-year periods.

And so all of their judgments about what that utility will be worth to them over time is baked into that.

So it is not by any means a simple measure of whether or not today's ROE is adequate or not.  I know that is not exactly what your question was, but --

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand exactly what you're saying, and I guess on an individual acquisition basis, I understand why, in any given case, you are going to say there's a lot of reasons why you set the value at one number or another.  And they could be strategic, or anything like that.


But if across the market, you are seeing that the price of a given type of asset -- for example, an LDC in Ontario -- is consistently more than book, then isn't that giving a general market statement about whether the returns are adequate?  Or am I missing something there?


MR. COYNE:  I think that is not -- I think that's not the statement, for the same reason, because what they're looking at is their long-term prospects for that company.  You know, it is typically a long-term hold if you are an equity investor in a utility.


So it is the same type of analysis.  It is not done at the time of acquisition, but I suppose it is done at the time you acquire the stock, that you are looking at the prospects over the next 10 or 20 years, however long you plan to hold that stock.  Or maybe if you are a short-term holder, it is over the -- a shorter period of time.

But I think comparability is an important point, too, because they're looking at the returns that they can expect to earn in that stock versus the returns they can expect to earn in the market as a whole.


And broadly in the market as a whole, assets for organized companies sell for over book value.  It is an exception where they don't.  They're typically lower for utilities than they are for the market overall, because they do have regulated rates of return and they don't have all the upside, but it also the case that for most of the companies that we see publicly traded, they're holding companies that are diversified portfolios or a mix of utility and non-utility assets too.  But by and large in markets in general, for mature assets they sell at over book value unless it is an unusual event or a distressed company such as P&G, which we talked about earlier.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, and I guess -- I'm sorry if I am taking this down a rathole, but I am trying to understand the concept.

In Ontario we have utilities buying utilities, and their alternative investment is not buying Pizza Pizza.  Their alternative investment is putting money into the ground in their own utility, so if you are a PowerStream, for example, and you're looking to buy another utility, you have a choice.  You can put your $100 million into the ground in your utility and get eight percent on it, or you can take that $100 million and get four percent on it if you buy another utility.


And that strikes me as –- as strange.

MR. COYNE:  Well, I doubt their expectation would be 4 percent over the long run.  I don't think that that would -


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, whatever; something less, because they're paying a premium.


MR. COYNE:  Well, I can't speak to this specific hypothetical, but the -- we work with companies that buy and are interested in buying utilities across North America, and I have never had a discussion with one that would –- that would consider a return on common equity in their own analysis that would be less than 10 percent.  Eight percent, I have never heard or seen; 4 percent would be a number that would -- is below the cost of debt.

So I don't think that there are buyers out there looking at utility assets in Canada or North America that are looking at returns that low.  Now, they may get returns that low, if they're wrong about their assessments of future market conditions, just as many of us have in the last couple of years in our own investment portfolios, but our expectations were different than that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks a lot.


MR. GARNER:  Paula?


MS. CONBOY:  I am actually trying to read the decision.


I am just trying to test my speed-reading of this decision while we are discussing it.  But there are a few comments in terms of what might have been behind the Terasen acquisition by Fortis BC, one of them in the decision being that Fortis BC and Terasen, essentially they compete to supply the same -- the heating needs of the same customers.

So it may not be this isolated fact of their ROE, but other reasons that Mr. Carmichael spoke about, in terms of increasing their footprint with respect to their service territory.

Anyway, it is probably worth everybody having a look at that decision, seeing as we have spent so much time discussing it today.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Paula.  Any other questions?  Comments?  Don, go ahead.

MR. CARMICHAEL:  I look at things --

MR. GARNER:  The mic, Don.

MR. CARMICHAEL:  I look at things now compared to 2007.  You know, we are looking at capital markets that have obviously gone through a period of stress.  We are looking at constraints on bank lending and credit.  We are looking at more focus on credit in the longer-term markets, and we are looking at higher rates.

I put all of those things together and my after-tax weighted cost of capital has gone up.  Everything else remaining constant with the utility, my utility price or the price that I am willing to pay for that utility has gone down.

So to the Chair's question, if it was 1.7 in 2007, it is going to be something less than that today.

MR. SCHWARTZ:  I really don't want to comment on the transaction at all, so...

MR. GARNER:  Well, there are no other questions.  We will thank Dr. Schwartz, and I think we have one more speaker, I think is going to speak for Toronto Hydro.

MR. SARDANA:  Where is the mic?

MR. GARNER:  The mic is right in front of you.  It is on.
Presentation by Mr. Sardana:

MR. SARDANA:  I am actually speaking on behalf of the CLD, and of course they're free to add comments as we go.

So, of course, we have had some good presentations and discussions on the equity portion of the cost of capital, and my intention, perhaps thankfully, is not to revisit that portion of the formula but to limit my comments on the short-term component.  That hasn't been talked about thus far.

This, of course, refers to the 4 percent piece within the overall 60 percent debt component.

I am going to also limit my comments on the cost of this component, which has been set today at a deemed rate of 90-day bankers acceptances plus 25 basis points.

So in my mind, there are two issues here:  First, the basis for calculating the 25 basis points; and, second, the level of the spread.

So with respect to the first matter, the basis for the 25 basis points spread, I want to point out a potential issue with how this has been set.  So, essentially, if you would refer back to Board Staff's letter of November 28th, 2006 titled "Approval of Accounting Interest Rates Methodology For Regulatory Accounts, Board File EB-2006-0117", appendix C on page 7 of the report outlines how Board Staff derived the 25 basis points spread.

I don't plan on repeating that section here, except to point out that while Board Staff's intention to derive a spread over 90-day BAs is the correct approach, in general, the actual historical rates that they seem to have used are incorrect, in my mind.

So Staff used 90-day corporate paper as one of the key historical rates for determining the spread, but if you examine the series, the footnote in the table clearly states that this rate is for major finance company paper borrowers.  And of course, as you know, none of the LDCs is a major finance company borrower.

So my point being that under most market circumstances, major finance company borrowers can and do borrow at rates below that at which LDCs can borrow on a short-term basis.

So this leads to the second matter at hand, and that is the actual 25 basis points spread.

Now, the difficulty with that is, of course, we don't have an index that we can go to and say this is what it should be instead of 25 basis points, because most often this is negotiated on a bilateral basis.

But I can assure you that LDCs are borrowing at rates that are about three to five times that.  And I guess the only fix that I would suggest is that Board Staff could poll the six Sched 1 banks to get a consensus forecast for that rate.

So I think, in my mind, it would be a relatively simple fix for the Board to adjust that component of the cost of capital formula and to set it at a level that is, you know, reflective of current market conditions.

So that is really all I have to say about the short-term component.

I think Lynne Anderson has pointed out that it also applies to deferral accounts.  The same rate applies to deferral and variance accounts.
Q&A Session:


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Jay, you wanted to say something?

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your point is that the short-term rate isn't what you are actually paying?

MR. SARDANA:  Exactly.  Sorry, Jay, the deemed short-term component, the 4 percent - I think it is set at 1.33 percent today --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SARDANA:  -- is not reflective of what we're actually borrowing short-term money at.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So would the same reasoning apply to the long-term rate?

MR. SARDANA:  I am limiting my comments to the short-term rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are responsible for both at the Toronto Hydro.

MR. SARDANA:  Long-term rates, as you know, the remaining 56 percent is set at market.  We go and borrow money at market, and that is the rate that we put into our deemed structure.  Now, that applies to Toronto Hydro.

Other utilities might be doing it differently.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't borrow at 7.62 percent?

MR. SARDANA:  I can't comment on that, Jay.  I'm not in the market today.  If I were in the market today, they would price my bonds at the time of me entering the market.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know what the market rates are today?

MR. SARDANA:  Only on an indicative basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Indicatively, what are they?

MR. SARDANA:  I don't have that with me today, Jay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks a lot.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, Mark, could I ask a clarifying question?

MR. GARNER:  Sure.

MS. TAYLOR:  Maybe if I could paraphrase what Jay was asking for my own edification.

So, Jay, were you asking that he will flow through his actual debt financing cost, and are you saying that you are not flowing through your actual short-term borrowing cost?  It is being capped at BAs plus a quarter?

MR. SARDANA:  That is exactly right.  The 4 percent component is a deemed rate, and that is capped.

MS. TAYLOR:  It's a cap.  So if you go out and issue, as Jay was suggesting, at a rate less than 7.62 under the current long bond rate set, that would flow through rates at the lower cost.  However, if you go out and actually raise short-term BA money at a price higher than BAs plus a quarter, you will lose out on the spread.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. SARDANA:  That is effectively right, yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay, thanks.

MR. GARNER:  Lynne.

MS. ANDERSON:  Just to put perspective, the current calculation that is used for the variance and deferral accounts - and it is the same calculation - is at 0.55 percent.

So you can see there is no LDC around that can go out and borrow money at 0.55 percent.  So that is what the calculation -- the most recent calculation of the Board, which happens every quarter.  And it is the same calculation for cost of capital for the short-term debt.

MR. SARDANA:  I can add anecdotally, just in casual conversations, I think LDCs are borrowing at three to five times that on resets and things.

MR. GARNER:  James?

MR. COCHRANE:  James Cochrane for the Power Workers' Union.  Just a clarifying question.

When you said three to five times that, you're referring to the spread?

MR. SARDANA:  The spread, right.

MR. COCHRANE:  So, in other words, in the 2009, if the -- if I back out from the 1.33, I get a 1.08 for the BA rate.  It would actually be 1.08, plus anywhere between 75 and 125 basis points?

MR. SARDANA:  That's effectively right.

MR. COCHRANE:  That would be indicative of your cost?

MR. SARDANA:  Correct.

MR. COCHRANE:  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Thanks.  Lynne?

MS. ANDERSON:  I would just add that it actually has at some point been higher than that, the spread.

MR. SARDANA:  See, that's the difficulty.  We don't have an index, as I mentioned.  We would have to go out, and I think the only methodology that I would suggest is a poll of the six Schedule 1 banks and say, What are you lending at today to utility-type credits on a short-term basis, sort of thing?

MS. TAYLOR:  So the Board doesn't necessarily know how who to phone at these institutions.  So in order to do that, we would have to be provided with --

MR. SARDANA:  I would be very happy to provide you with names of our syndicate.  We have all six banks in our lending syndicate.  We can provide you names that you can talk to.  It would be unbiased.  They are just our lenders.  I am sure Enbridge has lenders that they could perhaps put names forward for.  I am not sure.  I don't want to speak for them.

MS. TAYLOR:  So every utility will issue BAs at a slightly different price.  So I am just fleshing this out here.  Are you saying we need to go and ask for an A-rated utility credit, an A-minus-rated utility credit, BBB plus?  Are we setting -- would it be analogous to this same type of credit that you would apply to your long-term debt benchmark?  Or -- I mean it has to apply to all of them.

MR. SARDANA:  Right.  We have sort of agonized over that same question, Karen, and, you know, always come up with the same sort of conundrum:  Where do we go to get this price?

I think -- I don't know where Hydro One is right now, but we are all rated R1 low on the short-term side, the ones that have a short-term rating.  So I guess it would be, at least as a starting point:  What are they lending to for R1 low credits right now?

That might be a starting point.

MR. GARNER:  Jay?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Could those same people tell us what they're lending for long-term debt?

MR. SARDANA:  You'd have to ask them, Jay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you know them.  You're recommending that we talk to them, so...


MR. SARDANA:  They would be able to give you indicative rates, but they would be just that, indicative rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Keith?

MR. RITCHIE:  This would also, in terms of, say, something for the deferral and variance accounts, this rate would also apply in terms of like credit balances for the period, as well?

MR. SARDANA:  Yeah, I believe so.  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  Other questions?  Thank you.

MR. SARDANA:  Thank you, Mark.
Closing Remarks:


MR. GARNER:  Thank you very much.  All right.

I think unless there are other questions or people would like to ask anybody in the room another question before we close, then what I will do is, first, just go through the next steps that were outlined in the letter that was issued yesterday, I believe.

And that letter sets out October 26th -- is it, Lisa?  For comments?

MS. BRICKENDEN:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  So a due date of October 26th for further comment.  You will see in that letter also that the Board has indicated that it expects to report -- provide its report by the year's end, and in time for implementation into the 2010 rate year.

And I would just point out, in that letter, we have asked you to put in with your comments a reference docket number, which is 2009-0084, so that we can ensure we find your comments.

And finally, you will also note that it has Lisa's contact information if you have any questions about -- or if you have any questions.

So with that, I guess what I would like to do is, first of all, just thank everybody.  Thank our presenters, first of all, for their coming to the Board and coming back to the Board.  I would like to thank all of you and all of our participants for your questions.

I would like to thank my colleagues at Board Staff, Alex, Keith, Karen, Kristi and Lisa – Lisa as team lead -- for keeping us going.  And I would also personally like to put out my thanks to a number of you, including my Chair, who have helped me navigate between -- so that we don't bump into becoming a hearing in this proceeding, which was, as you know, the collision between academia and analysts piled up with a lot of data.  So I congratulate you all for steering away from making it into a hearing.

And with that, we will conclude.  I think the Chair may have a few words, however.

MR. WETSTON:  Always have the opportunity to wrap up.

Obviously, I want to thank Mark and Staff for organizing this consultation.  I also want to thank Mark and Staff and everyone who has participated on behalf of myself and the two Vice-Chairs who are with me, Gordon Kaiser and Pam Nowina.

I think we tried to attend most of the proceedings, and for -- obviously for good reason, I think it was important for us to be here throughout.

I just want to reiterate what we're trying to do here. As I indicated in my opening remarks, that we had three purposes in this consultation.  The three purposes were to gather information, to hear what you have to say in three key areas.  I will just repeat them: the potential need to adjust the established cost of service methodology based on the equity risk premium approach, to ensure that it is adaptable to changes in financial market and economic conditions.  I think we heard a fair bit about that.

And secondly, to determine the reasonableness of the results based on a formulaic approach for setting the cost of capital.  I also think we have received some interesting information on that, and obviously we will receive your submissions.

And thirdly, this issue of discretion, and that is an important one for a Board, and is it to guide our discretion to adjust those results if it is appropriate.

Now, I have added a fourth, which has become clear to me, as I just indicated to Ms. Nowina, and that is our fourth goal here is to make the draft guidelines of March 1997 final.

[Laughter]

MR. WETSTON:  So it has taken us a while to get to this point, but we might be close to it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's your hurry?

MR. WETSTON:  Sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's your hurry?

MR. WETSTON:  The rush to wait.

[Laughter]

MR. WETSTON:  It is essential -- my view, it is essential that the Board's cost of capital policy has accurately as possible determined the opportunity cost of capital for monies invested in utility works, with the ultimate objective being facilitating efficient investment in the sector.

Similarly, it is essential that fairness be achieved on behalf of ratepayers with respect to –- with respect to determining utility rates.

So to reiterate what I said on the first day of this consultation, we have no intention of acting retrospectively, and for those of you who are really highly legalistic about that term, nor will we act retroactively.  And there will be no sudden lurches in regulatory direction.  We are committed to a careful approach, because the capital markets expect stability and continuity from its regulators.

So I want to thank you all again.  I think we have had a good canvass of the issues, and we really do look forward to receiving your submissions on or by October 26th.

So thank you very much.  Mark, thank you.

--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 2:53 p.m.
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